# CHARACTERISATION OF AMARANTHUS TRICOLOR MUTANT PLANTS WITH INCREASED DROUGHT-TOLERANCE

# Itumeleng Eugenia Kgang (B.Tech Biotechnology)

Dissertation submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of MAGISTER TECHNOLOGIAE: BIOTECHNOLOGY Department of Health Sciences Faculty of Applied and Computer Sciences Vaal University of Technology

> Supervisor: Mr Neelan Laloo Co-supervisor: Dr Lynelle van Emmenes

> > February 2010

The financial assistance of Vaal University of Technology, Agricultural Research Council and National Research Foundation towards this research is hereby acknowledged. Opinions expressed and conclusions arrived at are those of the author.

,

# **CONFIDENTIALITY CLAUSE**

### TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN

This work is of strategic importance.

The contents of this dissertation are to remain confidential and are not to be circulated for a period of five years.

Sincerely,

I.E. Kgang Date: 11.03.2010

Kgangs

## **DECLARATION**

This work has not been previously accepted in substance for any degree and is not being concurrently submitted in candidature for any degree.

Signed: I.E. Kgang

Date: 11.03.2010

Kgangts

## **Statement 1**

This dissertation is submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree Master of Technology.

#### Statement 2

The dissertation is the result of my own independent work/investigation, except where otherwise stated. Other sources are acknowledged by giving explicit reference. A reference list is appended for such purposes.

#### **Statement 3**

I hereby give consent for the dissertation, if accepted, to be available for photocopying and interlibrary loans after expiry of a bar on access approved by the Vaal University of Technology.

Signed: I.E Kgang Date: 11.03.2010

Kgangt

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost I would like to thank the Almighty God for all my accomplishments in life and for His love, protection and provision. Without Him, all of this wouldn't have been possible.

I would like to convey my sincere gratitude to all the individuals and institutions who have contributed to the success and timeous completion of my studies.

My deep gratitude goes to my supervisors:

- Professor Karl Kunert, University of Pretoria (FABI), for taking me in as one of his students and giving me the opportunity to further my studies, for his support, supervision and patience.
- Dr Urte Schlüter, University of Pretoria (FABI), her patience, her unanimous support, inputs, expertise, valuable assistance and always encouraging me during my studies.
- Dr Lynelle van Emmenes, Agricultural Research Council (ARC), for her assistances, inputs and guidance.
- Mr Neelan Laloo, Vaal University of Technology (VUT), for always helping me to obtain the University's financial support, for his input and guidance.
- Dr Nompumelelo Matole, Agricultural Research Council (ARC), for providing me with an opportunity at the ARC and for all her input and support.
- Vaal University of Technology, National Research Foundation (NRF) and Agricultural Research Council (ARC) for their financial support, which helped me during the course of my studies and thus made it possible for me undertake my studies.
- Special thanks to all my colleagues, friends and relatives for their love, support and always encouraging me especially during tough times.

- My brothers Gladwin and Wayne Kgang, for their love, support and always believing in me.
- Terence Morulane and Mantsi Morulane for their love and support and patience.
- Lastly and definitely not least my wonderful loving parents, Dinah and Joseph Kgang for always being there for me, for their love, support, encouragement and understanding.

This thesis is dedicated to my parents for all their help, guidance, patience, support throughout my life and during my tertiary career. I will always be grateful and always love them.

v

## ABSTRACT

Amaranthus tricolor (A. tricolor) is a nutritious vegetable crop that is used as a subsistence and cash crop in the rural areas in Africa. Its yield and production is severely limited by abiotic stresses such as drought. Mutation technology, using gamma irradiation, was previously employed as a tool to create genetic variation in order to select for lines with improved drought-tolerance. During irradiation, 160 Gy (Gray) was selected as the optimal dosimetry that allowed subsequent seed germination. The resulting mutant lines were screened over several generations under field and greenhouse conditions and seven promising drought-tolerant lines were selected. Here we report on physiological and morphological studies of two of these Amaranthus mutant lines (#2 and #5) to confirm the enhanced drought-tolerance. Plants were grown in the greenhouse in plastic pots containing germination mix with fertiliser. They were exposed to 21 days of well-watered conditions, 19 days of drought-stress conditions and 7 days of re-watering. Shoot height, leaf area, protein content and relative water content (RWC) of the fresh and dry material were determined colorimetrically under wellwatered and drought-stress conditions, while anthocyanin was only measured during well-watered conditions. Shoot height, leaf area, number of leaves per plant and the protein content were significantly reduced under water-stress conditions. Under wellwatered conditions, mutant #5 grew faster with the shoot length been significantly higher than mutant #2 and the wild type. Even though drought adversely affected shoot length, mutant #5 still performed better than mutant #2 and the wild type under droughtstress conditions. While under both well-watered and drought-stress conditions, the wild type plants had bigger leaf area compared to the two mutant lines. After 16 days of drought-stress conditions, all the leaves of the wild type plants were dried out, as a result no wild type plants recovered after 8 days re-watering. Meanwhile, both mutant #2 and mutant #5 plants recovered significantly after 8 days of re-watering. The wild type was affected more by drought-stress, therefore the wild type was classified as less droughttolerant compared to the two mutant lines. Protein content for mutant #2 plants was higher under both well-watered and drought-stress conditions but was not significantly

different from mutant #5 plants compared to the wild type plants after 19 days of drought-stress conditions. RWC decreased in all the *Amaranthus* lines (wild type, #2 and #5) after 19 days of drought-stress conditions. Furthermore, genetic diversity was examined in all the *Amaranthus* lines using random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) analysis. Nineteen arbitrary RAPD markers were used of which two detected polymorphisms (OPA 07 and OPA 16).

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

CONFIDENTIALITY CLAUSEi
DECLARATIONii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiii
ABSTRACTvi
TABLE OF CONTENTS viii
LIST OF FIGURES xi
LIST OF TABLES xiv
ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS xv
CHAPTER 1 1
1. Introduction 1
1.1. General Introduction 1
1.2. RESEARCH AIM
1.3. OBJECTIVES
CHAPTER 2
2. Literature Review
2.1. Plants and stress
2.2. Drought-stress in plants
2.3. Drought Avoidance Mechanism
2.4. History of <i>Amaranthus</i>
2.5. Taxonomy
2.6. Cultivation
2.7. Nutritional value of Amaranthus
2.8. Food habits 12
2.8.1. Traditional use in Africa
2.8.2. Commercial use14
2.9. Drought-tolerance of <i>Amaranthus</i> 14
2.10. Radiation and RAPD technique15

CHAPTER 3		19
3. Material	s and Methods	19
3.1. Plan	nt material	19
3.1.1.	Irradiation of A. tricolor plants	19
3.1.2.	Plant selection	19
3.2. Soi	il selection	
3.3. Mo	orphological characterisation	20
3.3.1.	Plant growth experiment	
3.3.2.	Shoot height	
3.3.3.	Leaf area	
3.3.4.	Leaf number	
3.3.5.	Anthocyanin concentration	
3.3.6.	Protein determination	
	3.3.6.1. Protein standard curve	
	3.3.6.2. Protein concentration of leaves	
3.3.7.	Fresh weight and dry weight	
3.3.8.	Relative water content (RWC)	
3.3.9.	Pot weight during drought-stress	
3.4. RA	PD analysis	
3.4.1.	Isolation of DNA	25
3.4.2.	Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)	25
3.4.3.	Gel Electrophoresis	
3.5. Stat	istical analysis	
CHAPTER 4		
4. Results a	and Findings	
4.1. Mo	rphological and physiological characterisation of mutated Ama	ranthus
lines during	g well-watered conditions	
4.1.1.	Selection of optimal soil medium	
4.1.2.	Plants grown	30

	4.1.3.	Anthocyanin content	. 32	
4.2.	Mor	phological and physiological characterisation of Amaranthus lines		
during well-watered and drought-stress conditions				
	4.2.1.	Effect of drought-stress on shoot length	. 34	
	4.2.2.	Leaf area	. 36	
	4.2.3.	Number of leaves	. 36	
	4.2.4.	Protein content	. 39	
	4.2.5.	Relative water content, FW/DW ratio and pot weight	. 41	
	4.2.6.	Recovery of plants after re-watering	. 44	
4.3.	Dete	ection of DNA polymorphisms using RAPD analysis	. 45	
CHAPTI	ER 5		. 48	
5. D	iscussio	on	. 48	
5.1.	Mor	phological and physiological studies	. 48	
5.2.	Bio	chemical studies	. 52	
5.3.	Gen	omic studies	. 53	
CHAPTI	ER 6		. 54	
6. C	onclusi	on and Recommendations	. 54	
6.1.	Con	clusion	. 54	
6.2.	Rec	ommendations	. 55	
REFERE	ENCES.		. 56	

#### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2: Abiotic (natural) and biotic (living) stress factors that affect plant growth 4

Figure 4.1: Growth comparison of 10 Amaranthus plants on different soil types (medium3 (potting soil, vermiculite and sand), medium 4 (germination mix) and medium 5 (germination mix with MS)) after 4 weeks of growth. Data shown are the mean from 10 plants of each line  $\pm$  SE 30

Figure 4.2: Two weeks old plants of Amaranthus lines (wild type, mutant #2 and mutant#5). Plants labeled with blue rings were the plants used for weekly measurements31

Figure 4.3: Average shoot length of 7 plants from the wild type, mutant #2 and mutant#5 under well-watered conditions in the greenhouse at 28 °C. Data shown are the meanfrom 7 plants of each line  $\pm$  SE at each time point32

Figure 4.4: (A) Stem colour of the wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5 plants and (B) the average concentration of the anthocyanin content from these lines after 3 weeks of growth at  $28^{\circ}$ C. Data shown are the mean from 8 stem stalks of each line ± SE 33

Figure 4.5: (A) The average shoot length of seven wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5 plants during 19 days of (A) well-watered and (B) of drought-stress conditions in the greenhouse at 28°C. Data shown are the mean from seven plants of each line  $\pm$  SE at each time point 35

Figure 4.6: (A) The average leaf area of wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5 plants during 24 days of well-watered conditions and (B) during 16 days of drought conditions and eight days of recovery period in the greenhouse at 28°C. Data shown are the mean from five plants of each line  $\pm$  SE at each time point 37

Figure 4.7: (A) The average number of leaves of seven wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5 per line during 19 days of (A) well-watering and (B) of drought treatment in the greenhouse at 28°C. Data shown are the mean from seven plants of each line  $\pm$  SE at each time point 38

Figure 4.8: A) The average protein content from the wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5 plants during 19 days of (A) well-watering and (B) of drought treatment in the greenhouse at 28°C. Data shown are the mean from seven plants of each line  $\pm$  SE at each time point 40

Figure 4.9: The average weight of the pots (soil and plant biomass weight) containing the wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5 plants during 19 days of drought treatment in the greenhouse at 28°C. Data shown are the mean from seven pots for each line  $\pm$  SE at each time point 42

Figure 4.10: Relative water content (RWC) of the wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5plants during 19 days of drought treatment grown at 28°C in the greenhouse. Datashown are the mean from six plants of each line ± SE at each time point42

Figure 4.11: The average fresh weight/dry weight (FW/DW) changes of the wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5 plants during 19 days of (A) well-watering and (B) of drought treatment in the greenhouse at 28°C. Data shown are the mean from seven plants of each line  $\pm$  S.E at each time point 43

**Figure 4.12:** (A) Physical appearance of the wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5 after 19 days of growth under drought-stress conditions. (B) Morphological characteristics of these lines after seven days of re-hydration in the greenhouse at 28°C 45

**Figure 4.13:** RAPD analysis of genomic DNA of the wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5 plants after visualisation of the amplified DNA fragments on a 1.2 percent (%) agarose gel. M represents Molecular Marker IV; WT represents the wild type; M2 represents mutant #2 and M5 represents mutant #5 (A) represents amplification using OPA-07 (B) represents amplification using OPA-16 47

# LIST OF TABLES

 Table 1: Nucleotide sequences of primers used in RAPD analysis

27

# **ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS**

%	Percentage
°C	Degree Celsius
ABA	Abscisic acid
AFLP	Amplified Fragment Length
	Polymorphism
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
$C_4$	Carbon 4
cDNA	complementary DNA
cm	Centimeter
dH <sub>2</sub> O	Sterile distilled water
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTPs	Deoxynucleoside triphosphates
DW	Dry Weight
FW	Fresh Weight
μg	Microgram
g	Gram
hr	Hour
Gy	Gray
H <sub>2</sub> O	Water
HCl	Hydrochloric acid
L	Liter
rpm	revolutions per minute
pH	Log Hydrogen ion concentration
μL	Microliter
μΜ	Micromolar
M	Molar
MgCl <sub>2</sub>	Magnesium Chloride

Mg	Milligram
mL	Milliliter
min	Minute
mm	Millimeter
mM	Millimolar
MPa	MegaPascal
MS	Murashige and Skoog
Ν	Normality
nm	Nanometer
OD	Optical density
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PEG	Polyethylene Glycol
RAPD	Random Amplified Polymorphic
	DNA
RDA	Representational Difference
	Analysis
RWC	Relative Water Content
TAE	Tris-acetate EDTA
Taq	Thermus aquaticus
Tris	Tris(hydromethyl) aminomethane
TW	Turgor Weight
SA	South Africa
SE	Standard Error
UK	United Kingdom
UV-A	Ultraviolet A radiation
UV-B	Ultraviolet B radiation
V	Voltage

## **CHAPTER 1**

#### 1. Introduction

# 1.1. General Introduction

Amaranthus plants can be used as a pseudo cereal crop, as well as a leafy vegetable. Attention to this crop is increasing, because of its tolerance to drought-stress, high disease and pest resistance, and high yield in production even on poor soils (Becker et al., 1981; Bressani et al., 1987). It is also very palatable, easy to cook and has high nutritional values which are required for human diet especially in developing countries where food is expensive or scarce. These qualities have made this crop particularly interesting for developing countries (van den Heever et al., 2007). Furthermore this crop also exhibits tremendous morphological diversity and extensive adaptation to various eco-geographical situations (Ray and Roy, 2009). Due to this plant's qualities and its ability to withstand harsh conditions, some believe that improvement of this crop can contribute to the world's food supplies, thus improving the economies of many countries. It could also lessen hunger in marginal areas while improving the income of the farmers (van den Heever et al., 2007). Unfortunately this crop has received minimal attention in terms of research and many people don't know much about its overall nutritional quality. Improving drought-tolerance in this important crop will undoubtedly contribute to food security and enhance the quality of life for people who depend on it. For this reason, knowledge of the crop's nutritional values, its ability to acclimatise and to grow well under different weather and soil conditions is essential.

Modern plant breeding and biotechnological techniques can be used to further enhance traits such as drought-tolerance in these crops. Radiation can be used to change different characteristics of a plant, and finally improve certain traits of interest. In 1999, 48 000 *A. tricolor* seeds (syn. *Gangeticus*) were vacuum packed in plastic bags and sent to Atomic Energy Corporation, Pelindaba to be gamma radiated. Seeds were improved by inducing

mutations followed by selection for lines with improved traits such as drought-tolerance. Radiation is known to cause changes to the plant genome, but plant performance between plants may, however, be similar (Jie *et al.*, 1993). Hence, this study seeks to investigate the physiological responses of irradiated and wild type *Amaranthus* plants during drought conditions. This study will be conducted in a temperature-controlled environment in the greenhouse. Imposing controlled water-stress in the field is difficult because of unpredictable rainfall and soil heterogeneity making it difficult to interpret the results.

#### **1.2. RESEARCH AIM**

Abiotic stresses such as drought constitute a major constraint for agricultural production in many developing countries. Crops of agricultural importance that are already tolerant to drought-stress can significantly contribute to food security thus improving the economy of the countries. *A. tricolor* was improved at the Atomic Energy Corporation, Pelindaba by inducing mutations and as a result produce varieties with improved traits such as drought-tolerance. The aim of this study was to evaluate the physiological characteristics of these *A. tricolor* mutants with increased drought-tolerance in comparison to the wild type plants.

#### **1.3. OBJECTIVES**

The specific objectives of this study were to:

- 1. Establish the best growth condition for the Amaranthus plants.
- Greenhouse trial in order to determine the physiologically and morphologically characterise drought-tolerant mutant plants under well-watered and droughtstressed conditions in comparison to the wild type plants.
- 3. Analyse the genetic diversity of genomic DNA isolated from *Amaranthus* plants using random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD).

## **CHAPTER 2**

# 2. Literature Review

#### 2.1. Plants and stress

Plants are bound to their habitats and not all the plants can survive under arid environmental conditions. Those that do, usually only survive for a limited period of drought-stress. Plants cannot remove themselves from any unfavourable environmental or anthropogenic stressors, therefore they require a special mechanism to adapt and avoid stress in order to survive. When plants are exposed to stressful conditions such as drought, the demand for water increases, leads to destabilisation of cellular functions and finally to permanent damage or even death. Any environmental factor likely to affect living organisms can be regarded as stressful (Levitt, 1972).

Plant responses to drought vary depending on the species and their genotype, the cell type and its subcellular compartments, the age and stage of development, the period of drought and the severity of water deficit (Bray, 1997). Therefore, different species in response to environment vary due to their differentiation in water use efficiency. Plants with high water efficiency are predicted to have an increase in biomass per unit water lost during drought conditions than those with less water use efficiency (Heschel *et al.*, 2002).

Plant stressors are divided into two factors; environmental (abiotic) and living (biotic) stresses. Abiotic stress factors include: drought, heat, high light, wind, storm, fire, mineral deficiency, salinity, low temperature, wounding, UV-A, UV-B, flooding and ozone. Biotic stress includes: insects, pathogens, bacteria, fungi, virus and higher animals including human interference (Figure 1). Abiotic stresses such as drought and salinity are the major cause of crop loss in many parts of the world (Katerji *et al.*, 2001). In most countries where food supply is insufficient for the growing population, plant

biologists are working on implementing modern techniques that will help in overcoming environmental stresses such as drought (Vinocur and Altman, 2005). An understanding of the physiological mechanisms and genetic controls of traits such as drought at various stages of plant development is essential in order to develop crop plants with improved traits like drought-tolerance (Ashraf and Foolad, 2007).



Figure 2: Abiotic (natural) and biotic (living) stress factors that affect plant growth

# 2.2. Drought-stress in plants

Drought-stress causes insufficient availability of water for plants, animals and human life. Crops of agricultural importance exhibiting high drought-tolerance, such as *Amaranthus*, can contribute to food security. However, the plants' quality under stressful

conditions can be decreased (O'Brien and Price, 1998) and may show alteration of morphological and physiological features, as well as biochemical and molecular processes (Lawlor and Cornic, 2002). The mechanisms involved during drought-stress are still a challenge because drought-tolerance is a complex trait which consists of several metabolic pathways. In order to increase the efficiency in developing drought-tolerant varieties, one needs to understand, identify and isolate genes associated with drought-tolerance. The mechanisms of drought-tolerance are triggered by the response of roots to water limitation since the roots are the primary site for stress signal perception in which a cascade of gene expression is initiated. These transcriptional changes can lead to plant adaptation to drought-tolerance by controlling gene expression and signal transduction in drought-stress response (regulatory proteins) or protecting the plant against environmental stress (functional proteins) (Périn *et al.*, 2007). Extending the plant's exposure to drought-stress forces the plant to adapt to stress conditions.

Fukai and Cooper (1995) reported that morphological mechanisms become relentlessly affected when the plants are exposed to a rapid water shortage. Liu and Stützel (2002) have previously reported the physiological adaptation of vegetable *Amaranthus* in response to drought-stress showing evidence of high osmotic adjustment (1.08-1.24 MPa) in all *Amaranthus* genotypes which guaranteed that the plants continue to progress well even under drought-stress conditions. Slabbert *et al.* (2004) reported that amaranth plants can withstand drought-stress by means of mechanisms of osmotic, metabolic and photosynthetic adjustment. *Amaranthus* is able to control transpiration (evaporation) water loss by closing the stomata (Cornic 2000; Lawlor and Cornic, 2002; Efeoğlu *et al.*, 2009). As a consequence, turgor-dependent processes such as growth and stomatal activity gradually decreases the leaf water potential (Liu and Stützel, 2002).

Drought related responses such as stomatal closure are mediated by abscisic acid (ABA). An increase in ABA can cause many changes in plant growth, development and its physiology. When the rate of transpiration is greater than the uptake of water, plant or cellular water deficit occurs, and results in the reduction of RWC, cell turgor and cell volume (Lawlor and Cornic, 2002).

# 2.3. Drought Avoidance Mechanism

The strategies that plants can use to adapt to drought-stress conditions include drought avoidance, drought escape and drought-tolerance. This means that plants can either avoid drought by maintaining their water status in the presence of drought-stress, or escape drought by completing its life cycle before the beginning of a drought period, or plants can tolerate drought by functioning under drought-stress conditions (Levitt, 1980; Turner *et al.*, 2001). Plants can maintain the available water within the cell compartments during drought by avoiding dehydration (Valliyodan and Nguyen, 2006). Even though several studies have revealed that the presence of water plays an important role within plant growth, only a few studies have shown the adaptive genetic differentiation in response to variation in drought conditions (Heschel *et al.*, 2002) while some studies have previously reported the response of rice seedlings to drought-stress conditions (Cabuslay *et al.*, 2002; Reddy *et al.*, 2002; Salekdeh *et al.*, 2002; Rabbani *et al.*, 2003).

There are several characteristics that help the plant to survive under drought-stress conditions. These are achieved by modulation of gene expression and synthesis of osmoprotectants. Accumulation of molecules which protect specific cellular functions plays an important role in stabilisation of the cell membrane and can guarantee recovery of the plant when the soil is rehydrated (Munns, 1988; Liu and Stützel, 2002; Reddy *et al.*, 2004; Valliyodan and Nguyen, 2006; Zang and Komatsu, 2007). A process in which the solutes are accumulated in the plant tissue due to lower water potential allow the plant to retain its turgor and is called osmotic adjustment (Liu and Stützel, 2002; Nayyar and Walia, 2004).

More long-term adaptation mechanisms involve, for instance, changes in root to shoot dry mass ratio (Turner, 1997; Liu and Stützel, 2004). Drought is known to reduce both root and shoot growth. However Sharp and Davies (1979) found that solutes accumulated at the tip of the root under water deficit, in turn attracting water at these areas which sustain root turgor and growth. Furthermore, under water stress, the deep rooted plant can avoid drought due to its ability to absorb great amounts of water and store it (Levitt, 1980). Exposure of plants to extended drought-stress results in the deeper roots being found in drier soil layers, while the shallower roots are generally found in the wetter soil (Taiz and Zeiger, 1998) The ability of the plant to obtain soil water is therefore determined by the length of the root, its density and diameter. Roots that are thicker last longer and are capable of making more and longer branches and thus elevate root length density and the ability of water uptake (Nguyen et al., 1997). Conservative shoot growth during drought could be advantageous, especially if root growth is promoted, but genotypes that sustain shoot growth during drought may have greater marketability, which is particularly important for leafy vegetable crops (Liu and Stützel, 2004).

As a consequence of drought, the leaves of the plant reach smaller final sizes and also their cytological structure can be changed compared to ones under well-watered conditions (Heckenberger *et al.*, 1998; Grainier and Tardieau, 1998). In response to drought, the leaf area decreases which in turn reduce evaporation while preserving water during drought-stress periods. Specific leaf area is an indicator of leaf thickness and is reduced under water deficit (Marcelis *et al.*, 1998). The different sensitivity of photosynthesis and leaf area expansion in response to soil drying leads to a decrease in specific leaf area in drought-stress d plants. Leaf expansion is affected earlier than photosynthesis by drought-stress (Tardieu *et al.*, 1999). It has been understood that a decrease in specific leaf area may be a way to improve water use efficiency, because thicker leaves have higher density of chlorophyll and proteins per unit leaf area. As a result they have a greater photosynthetic capacity compared to the thinner leaves (Liu and Stützel, 2004). A decline in transpiration is observed in vegetable amaranth (*Amaranthus spp.*) exposed to soil drying, due to a decrease in stomatal conductance (Masinde *et al.*, 2006).

## 2.4. History of Amaranthus

*Amaranthus* is a broadleaf ancient crop originating from Latin America where it was domesticated. It was recovered from the wild varieties in Mexico (Early, 1990) and consists of three important group types, the grain, vegetable and ornamental types. The grain type was used by the ancient middle and South American civilisation **as** an important food crop which consequently added maximum economic value. *Amaranthus* was cultivated by the Aztec, Mayan and the Incas. *Amaranthus*, which the Aztec tribe called huautli, was cultivated 5,000 to 7,000 years ago in Mexico **as** a food crop and was an important part of their religion and ritual drinks (Early, 1990). Apart from that *Amaranthus* was also used for its rich colour which serves as a dye in their religious rites. *Amaranthus* as a grain crop was grown in a similar way as maize (*Zea mays* L.) by indigenous South American people. Seeds were ground and used to make tamales and tortillas.

The cultivation of this crop was forbidden after the arrival of the Spanish in Mexico in 1500s, since they considered their practice primitive and pagan (Myers, 1996; Tuscon, 2006). Even though the Spanish wanted to destroy the Aztec culture, this crop was rediscovered because of its high nutritional content and its tolerance to unfavourable environmental conditions (Myers, 1996) and is now profitably cultivated in northern India, southern Asia, China, Europe, Africa (Weber, 1987; Ranade *et al.*, 1997) and are widely used as herbs, ornamentals and vegetables (Bostid, 1984). *Amaranthus* cultivation has become popular in many parts of Africa. In South Africa (SA) it is found in all the provinces where it occurs naturally (Jansen van Rensburg *et al.*, 2007).

## 2.5. Taxonomy

*Amaranthus* is known as amaranth or pigweed and it belongs to a family of Amaranthaceae (Ray and Roy, 2009). It contains approximately 160 genera and 2400 species. Some of these species are trees, while the majority are used as herbs. The Amaranthaceae family is broadly spread in many parts of the world but mostly found in the subtropical and tropical regions. A closely related family to the Amaranthaceae family, which share several characteristics and uses, is the Chenopodiaceae family, which includes beet, spinach and quinoa. The genus *Amaranthus* has approximately 60 species; few are the cultivated type and most are regarded as the weedy type.

#### 2.6. Cultivation

*Amaranthus spp.* are cultivated for its seeds which are used as grains, and are harvested later after the plant has naturally maturated. The leaves are used as vegetables (Early, 1990) and have the advantage of being harvested throughout the seasons. The seeds of *Amaranthus* are sowed in rows to facilitate cultivation. Seeds must be planted about 4 mm deep whether sowed in the glasshouse or field for good germination. Due to this shallow depth, drying of the soil must be avoided until germination (O'Brien and Price, 1998). They germinate after 4-6 days and thinning may be done when the plant is 2 weeks old (Mingochi and Luchen, 1995). They can be transplanted when plants are 5-10 cm tall within 21 days (Daloz, 1979) and harvesting every 2-3 weeks for a period of one to two months (Fasuyi *et al.*, 2008).

Vegetable amaranth forms flowers and seeds along the stems. The cultivated grain *Amaranthus* has black seed coats unlike the wild and weedy type which h**as** pale-yellow coats (Drzewiecki, 2001). The seeds of amaranth are very small, tan or dark brown in colour, 2 mm long and weigh approximately 1 mg. Maturity of the seeds of grain amaranth can be determined when the seeds are easily separated from the heads upon rubbing between the hands (O'Brien and Price, 1998). *Amaranthus* flowers are not

edible. They produce small (5-10 cm long) flowers but they vary among cultivars and are found to be borne abundantly in axillary spikes (Palada and Crossman, 1999). This crop has the advantage of being unaffected by common soil diseases like nematodes, fungal and bacterial wilt. Pathogens such as damping off, wet rot and insect problems have previously been reviewed (Wilson, 1990).

## 2.7. Nutritional value of Amaranthus

Various *Amaranthus* species are known to possess high nutritional value. Both the seeds and leaves of *A. tricolor* are known to contain protein of unusual high quality and are richer in vitamins and minerals than cereals (Agbetoye and Oyeneye, 2007 and Gorinstein *et al.*, 2007). Protein content in the leaves of *Amaranthus* is 17-19 percent of the dry weight and has an advantage of having a more balanced composition of essential amino acids than other paste such as rice, wheat flour, oats and rye (Ray and Roy, 2009). As a leafy nutritious vegetable it can be further improved to enhance the quality of food for people dependent on it for subsistence (Bostid, 1984). It has many species which are used as leafy vegetables, for example: *A. tricolor, A. tristis* and *A. viridis*. Approximately 100 gram of *Amaranthus* vegetable leaves cooked in the absence of oil makes up 45 percent of the daily vitamin A requirement. When compared to other leafy vegetables like spinach, *Amaranthus* has three times more vitamin C, niacin and calcium. Compared with lettuce, *Amaranthus* contains seven times more iron and twenty times more calcium. The stems, inflorescences and also the leaves can serve as animal feed and as a source of natural red food colorants (Xu and Sun, 2001).

Seeds of *Amaranthus* possess dry matter ranges from 90 to 94 percent, N-substances from 15 to 18 percent, other extracts (fat) from 6 to 8 percent, crude fibre from 3 to 5 percent, ash from 2 to 3 percent and nitrogen free extracts ranging between 60 to 65 percent (Písaříková *et al.*, 2005). A study has been done in the past whereby the oatmeal, whole amaranth flour and amaranth seeds were compared both *in vivo* and *in vitro*, and

it was found that both the *Amaranthus* flour and seeds have increased levels of antioxidants. Flour, starch, bran and oil can be produced from the seed. The flour ground from these seeds blends with wheat or maize flours increases the protein content (Escudero *et al.*, 2005). *Amaranthus* seeds are known to have a high level of lysine, which is two times that of wheat and three times that of maize, and can be consumed with other cereals to give a balanced protein source (Escudero *et al.*, 2005). High levels of lysine, arginine and methionine in *Amaranthus* grains were found by Gorinstein *et al.*, (2002). As a substitution of conventional cereals, a high level of essential amino acids in *Amaranthus* seeds predetermines its usage (Gorinstein *et al.*, 2002). *Amaranthus* flour can also be used in bread, cereals, pasta, pancakes mixes, and snack foods mixed with wheat and corn (Kauffman and Weber, 1990). The seeds of *Amaranthus* contain fibre which is an effective agent against cancer and heart disease and is three times more than wheat and its iron content is five times more than wheat. It also has two times more calcium than ordinary milk. Unsaturated oil and high linoleic acid are also present in the seeds, which is of great importance in human nutrition (Mnkeni *et al.*, 2007).

*Amaranthus* crop has attracted attention in most of the developing countries, because of its high nutritional value and helps in fighting protein malnutrition. Poor nutrition in children, which can lead to blindness can be reduced with the use of 50 to 100 g of amaranth leaves per day (O'Brien and Price, 1998). It is also given to those recovering from illness or fasting, because the cooked grain is 90 percent digestible (Mnkeni *et al.*, 2007).

Aletor and Adeogun (1995) have previously reported the presence of anti-nutritional components such as nitrates in *Amaranthus*. Some *Amaranthus* can possess toxic levels of nitrates and oxalic acid (Cheeke and Bronson, 1979) and these toxic levels are similar to those found in other vegetables like spinach, beet greens, chard and conventional potherbs (Bostid, 1984). Accumulation of nitrate in plants happens when the plants are grown under drought-stress conditions, especially during a period of heavy nitrate

uptake by the plant. High levels of nitrates lead to formation of carcinogenic nitrosamines and gastric cancer. When the rate of conversion of nitrate to nitrite is higher than that of nitrite to ammonia, toxicity occurs (Sleugh et al., 2001). In the event of absorption into the blood, nitrites interact with haemoglobin which in turn affects the oxygen transport mechanism. This condition known as results in a methaemoglobinanaemia (blue baby syndrome). Therefore, it is of importance to know the levels of nitrate present in the accessions of Amaranthus (Mirvish 1983). Oxalic acid in Amaranthus accumulates as the plant ages, increased amount of soil fertility and also during water deficit conditions. When consumed by humans it binds minerals such as calcium, making it unavailable for absorption from the digestive tract (Bostid, 1984; Palada and Crossman, 1999). Consumption of large amounts leads to the development of mineral deficiency. Therefore, it is recommended that Amaranthus (and many other leafy vegetables) must be boiled before being eaten, because boiling dissolves the oxalic acid (Bostid, 1984).

Red colouration of the stem/leaves is caused by anthocyanin. Anthocyanin is associated with enhanced resistances to abiotic stressors such as drought (Chalker-Scott, 1999), heavy metals (Krupa *et al.*, 1996), UV-B (Reddy *et al.*, 1994; Brandt *et al.*, 1995; Alexieva *et al.*, 2001) opposition to herbivores and pathogens (Coley and Aide, 1989). It acts as a sunscreen against damaging UV-B radiation, and as an antioxidant, which protects the plant under stress. *Amaranthus* leafy vegetables are known to have a greater concentration of antioxidant components than beet, cabbage, leafy lettuce and carrots (Cao *et al.*, 1996; Hunter and Fletcher, 2002; Amin *et al.*, 2006).

## 2.8. Food habits

#### 2.8.1. Traditional use in Africa

Amaranthus is one of the most important crops in Africa (Palada and Crossman, 1999). The leaves of both the grain and vegetable types can be eaten cooked even though those grown for vegetable use are known to have better taste than the grain types (Bostid, 1984). Nutritious sprouts can be grown by germinating the seeds, whereas the leaves can be prepared like spinach. In some parts of Africa it is commonly eaten as a leafy vegetable, which can be consumed with other foods or alone. *Amaranthus* can be used in salads (Palada and Crossman, 1999), boiled and mixed with a groundnut sauce or combined with condiments to prepare soup. In the North West, Free State and Limpopo provinces, the tender leaves may be prepared with other ingredients such as onions, tomatoes, peanut butter and spices to enhance their taste. In the Eastern Cape the Xhosa people believe that men who eat *Amaranthus* leaves are unmanly therefore it is mainly eaten by women (Mnkeni *et al.*, 2007). In the Democratic Republic of the Congo they use the leaves to prepare their Caribbean soup called callaloo and in Nigeria it is used as a common vegetable which can be used to prepare all the Nigerian carbohydrate dishes (<<u>http://www.underutilized-species.org</u>>). In Africa *Amaranthus spp* such as *A. tricolor*, *A. hypochondriacus* (vegetables) and *A. caudatus*, *A. cruentus* (grain) are the most commonly grown.

*Amaranthus spp.* is also known as African spinach, Indian spinach, bush greens, green leaf, spinach greens and bonongwe. In SA *Amaranthus* is mostly cultivated as a leafy vegetable. It has several collective names referred to by African people; it is known as *morogo or thepe* (Setswana, Pedi, and Sesotho) and *imifino* (isiXhosa and isiZulu). *Amaranthus* species are also cultivated as ornamentals in other parts of the world (Xu and Sun, 2001). Unfortunately, *Amaranthus* is not widely used in SA due to minimal information and knowledge on the crop's high nutritional values and its easier cultivation practise in comparison to other crops. Therefore it is essential to increase the awareness of *Amaranthus* as a vegetable, as well as the nutritional qualities of the seeds.

#### 2.8.2. Commercial use

Amaranthus has received little research interest to date because of lack of knowledge in the crop's nutritional values, bioavailability of the nutrients, and water and agronomic requirements. Amaranthus has potential use in commercial markets where it is packed and sold as whole grain, Amaranthus flour (high-bran and low-bran) and also in processed food such as cookies, breakfast bars, snacks and breakfast cereals. The seeds can also be popped and sold as popcorns. Unfortunately the seeds are not consumed in South Africa (Mnkeni et al., 2007). Even though this crop can contribute to food security and can be regarded as a 'cash crop', its demand in the market is minimal but gradually growing. Amaranthus grain contains a starch fraction which has potential value in industry and as a food product (Myers, 1996). Amaranthus has been exclusively used for seed production in the US and other regions of the world (Jefferson, 1999). With the increase in the human population in Africa, Amaranthus leaves can become a valuable source of human nutrition (Chweya, 1985; Gerson, 1991). This green leafy vegetable is popular in some parts of Africa and farmers cultivate it for the canning industry (Haq, 2004). This can improve the economics of farms, feed more families and create jobs which will improve their livelihoods.

# 2.9. Drought-tolerance of Amaranthus

Amaranthus is well adapted to adverse growing conditions such as low nutrient soils, and it also grows in a wide range of temperature and irradiation regimes, and this promotes the possibility of using this leafy vegetable as a nutritious crop in semi-arid regions (Liu and Stützel, 2004). Liu and Stützel (2002) have previously reported on the physiological basis of drought-tolerance in *Amaranthus* genotypes in response to soil drying and indicated that *Amaranthus* reveals a high capacity of osmotic adjustment which guarantees that the plant can continue to function under severe drought-stress conditions. *Amaranthus* can withstand drought better than cotton (*Gossypium* spp.), sorghum [*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench] and corn (*Zea mays* L.) (Johnson and

Henderson, 2002). *Amaranthus* is a C4 plant, and it is capable of using sunlight and nutrients at high temperatures (Zheleznov *et al.*, 1997; Ugas *et al.*, 2008) like sorghum and millets (Weber, 1987).

#### 2.10. Radiation and RAPD technique

Radiation is known to cause changes to the hereditary material of the cell (Jie *et al.*, 1993). Genetic variation in nature is too low to represent mutations which can be integrated into plant breeding schemes. Production of plants with improved traits such as drought-tolerance can be achieved by manipulation of genes that preserve the structure of cellular components or protect and preserve cellular functions under the stress (Valliyodan *et al.*, 2006).

Physical and chemical mutagens can be used in mutation induction and produce genetic variations from which preferred mutants may be selected (Novak and Brunner, 1992). M<sub>1</sub> generation limitation is known to help in comparing the usefulness and efficiency of mutagens. Therefore it is important to select an effective and efficient mutagen in mutation-breeding programs so as to get a high frequency of desirable mutations (Wani, 2009). Mutagens either alter genes or break chromosomes (van der Vyver, personal communication). The level of irradiation dose which causes mutation is induced by ionising radiation (Roy *et al.*, 2006). Ionising radiation was frequently used in mutation breeding to produce variations in plants for crop improvement (Ahloowalia and Maluszynski, 2001). Ionising radiation stimulates heritable chromosomal changes at a specific locus, leading to a variety of lesions in a chromosomal DNA (van der Vyver, personal communication). These changes include deletion, repetition or insertion of a section of the genomic DNA, DNA double-strand breaks, altering, missing or mismatching of nucleotide bases as well as intra- and inter-strand cross-links (Shirley *et al.*, 1992; Tuteja *et al.*, 2001).

Many mutations result in visible phenotypic changes; for instance chlorophyll deficiency, plant stature, pericarp colour, leaf marking, and spike density are most easily identified. On the other hand the occurrence of detecting a phenotypically different plant is not in itself sufficient evidence that there has been a mutation. Therefore, molecular markers can be used to identify genome areas affected by gamma radiation. Another study done by Roy *et al.* (2006) on irradiated *Vigna radiata* (mung bean) showed that the DNA damage after radiation was dose dependent.

Gamma radiation was previously reported at the Atomic Energy Corporation, Pelindaba where *A. tricolor* seeds had been irradiated by radioactivity and selected for improved survival. Seeds of *Amaranthus* were subjected to different irradiation doses (0-100; 200; 300; 400; 500) in order to find an optimal dose that will not distract the subsequent seed germination. It was observed that the best dosage in which the plantlets developed into vigorously growing seedlings was LD-50 (160 Gy). Extensive field and glasshouse screening studies for agronomic and physiological evaluation were conducted over several generations to select drought-tolerance and a number of drought-tolerant mutant lines were selected based on data recorded on the drought-tolerance of plants. After four generations (M2-M5) of agronomic and physiological screening, seven drought-tolerant mutant lines (#2, #5, #6, #19, #550, #554 and #993) were selected for further studies (Slabbert *et al.*, 2004). It is essential for scientist and breeders to have more understanding of the mechanisms and identify heritable traits that the *Amaranthus* plants use to adapt to drought-stress conditions.

Several studies have been performed on intra- and inter-specific genetic diversity and the relationships within the evolution of the *Amaranthus* using isozymes and various DNA markers (Lee *et al.*, 2008). Amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP) markers can be used to determine genetic similarities among the *Amaranthus* wild type and their mutant lines, as a result most likely produce viable hybrids.

Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) markers have been previously used to study the genetic diversity (Chan and Sun, 1997) and phylogenetic relationships among Amaranthus species (Ray and Roy, 2009). The RAPD technique can be used for surveying genomic variation because it is quick, requires low labour intensity, inexpensive compared to AFLP (amplified fragment length polymorphism) (Vos et al., 1995) and cDNA RDA (complementary DNA representational difference analysis) (Lisitsyn and Wigler, 1993) techniques. RAPD utilises arbitrary primers and polymorphisms are easily detected. This is followed by scoring the presences or absence of the fragment, then relates to sequence variation due to the insertion, substitution or deletion of the nucleotide (McGregory et al., 2000). However, this technique doesn't distinguish between the homozygote presences of a fragment from its heterozygote compared to (AFLP) marker. AFLP is known to be more reliable than RAPD technique but it is time consuming and laborious. This technique is not only used in genetic diversity, is also widely used in DNA fingerprinting and mapping. The RDA technique modified for cDNA can be followed to characterise the differentially expressed genes between the mutant lines and wild type Amaranthus, and identify genes that confer drought-tolerance.

Furthermore, comparing the RAPD technique to other polymerase reaction chain (PCR)based markers, this technique has the potential of randomly sampling a larger number of loci in a simpler pattern compared to other PCR-based markers (Ray and Roy, 2009; Zhang *et al.*, 2002). This technique also requires no sequence information and no knowledge about certain genes within the targeted taxon (Al-Humaid and Motawei, 2004). RAPD can therefore be used to detect mutations such as point mutations and rearrangements. A meaningful understanding of the amaranth genomes along with their genetic diversity is increasing extensively. Morphological and physiological observations have been well documented but these are poorly inherited identifiers' (Mandal and Das, 2002), because this doesn't provide enough information to distinguish genetic differences among *Amaranthus* genotypes. Rao (2004) has previously employed RAPD analysis on various plants species relative to development of plant genetic conservation and improvement strategies through biotechnology.

RAPD marker has been used on various plants, e.g *Elymus alaskanus* complex (Poaceae) (Zhang *et al.*, 2002) and *Amaranthus* (Ray and Roy, 2009; Chan and Sun, 1997). Work done by Rogozin and Pavlov (2003) confirms that radiation is directed at any specific locus within the plant genome and the mutation frequencies differ greatly along the nucleotides. These loci might reflect structural and functional features which may be involved in plant growth regulation, plant morphology and senescence processes. However the level of the DNA damage after RAPD analysis is not known unless the RAPD profile is further analysed to the sequence level. Hence, in this study, we look into differences between DNA genomes of the two mutants and the parent using RAPD analysis and to determine if they are associated with the increased drought-tolerance traits observed in the mutant lines. Therefore, molecular analysis coupled with morphological and physiological analysis that will be conducted in this research will be useful to improve drought-tolerance of many other crops as well.

### **CHAPTER 3**

# 3. Materials and Methods

#### 3.1. Plant material

The plant materials studied were A. tricolor wild type and two mutant lines (#2 and #5).

#### 3.1.1. Irradiation of A. tricolor plants

Previously, at the Atomic Energy Corporation, Pelindaba in 1999, *A. tricolor* seeds had been irradiated by radioactivity and selected for improved survival under drought-stress conditions. Seeds were subjected to different doses (0-100; 200; 300; 400; 500 Gy) of gamma-radiation in order to induce mutations. The irradiated seed material was germinated in seedling trays in the greenhouse to determine the lethal dose (LD<sub>50</sub>). For greenhouse screening, seeds were sown in seedling trays in 2:1:1 (peat:sand:vermiculite) soil mixture and Multifeed <sup>TM</sup> was applied weekly. The LD<sub>50</sub> was determined after 6-8 weeks of growth based on germination rate, growth and survival. Optimal dosage in which the plantlets developed into vigorously growing seedlings was LD<sub>50</sub> of 160 Gy.

#### **3.1.2.** Plant selection

Extensive field screening of the mutated plant material for agronomic and physiological evaluation was conducted over several generations to select the mutated lines adapted best for drought conditions.  $M_1$  seedlings were grown under a shade cloth in seedling trays in mist beds and then transplanted to the field after 4 weeks. Self-fertilisation was allowed and these seeds were harvested. Surviving progenies were planted for the next generation ( $M_2$ ).  $M_2$  plantlets were planted into pots and grown for  $M_3$ ,  $M_4$  and progressed to  $M_5$  and were tested for early drought-tolerance over a period of 3 years (2000-2003). Selection was based on survivals after re-watering, type of growth after
recovery and growth vigour (plant height, leaf size, internode length and disease occurrences). Seven drought-tolerant lines (#2, #5, #6, #19, #550, #554 and #993) were selected for improved drought-tolerance after 5 generations ( $M_5$ ) (Slabbert, *et al.* 2004). In the current study only two of these drought-tolerant lines (#2 and #5) were selected for detailed morphological and physiological characterisation. Selection was based on survival after re-watering all the plants.

#### 3.2 Soil selection

A. tricolor plants were grown on 5 different soil types to determine which type of soil promoted the growth of the Amaranthus lines. A. tricolor wild type, mutant #2 and mutant line #5 seeds were germinated in different types of soils, medium 1 (coconut coir, sand and vermiculite at a 1:1:1 ratio), medium 2 (seedling mix with addition of 4.49g/l Murashige & Skoog, 1962 (MS) as a fertiliser), medium 3 (potting soil enriched with compost containing essential micro and macronutrients, vermiculite and sand at 2:1:1), medium 4 (germination mix, Culterra (Pty) Ltd, SA) and medium 5 (germination mix with addition of MS as a fertiliser). Pots of 9.7 cm in height were used and were placed in the glasshouse. The A. tricolor lines were grown at a temperature between 28°C (during the day) and 16 to 19°C (at night).

#### **3.3** Morphological characterisation

#### 3.3.1 Plant growth experiment

A. tricolor seeds were germinated in the germination mix with 4.49g/l MS medium (pH was adjusted to 5.8). The germination tray was divided into 3 rows; one row per line was planted for mutant line #5, mutant line #2 and the wild type. The tray was placed in a temperature-controlled greenhouse with a photoperiod of 12 hr at 28°C. The plants that were used for shoot height measurements were labelled with small, blue rings. The plants were watered every third day with water containing 4.49g/l MS. At 14 days after

emergence, plants were thinned out so that they were 10 to 15 mm apart. During the third week some plants were selected and transplanted individually to 300 g germination mix with 150 ml of MS per pot, while those labelled with a blue rings were left in the germination tray for weekly shoot measurements. After 28 days, seven pots with individual plants per line were exposed to drought-stress while the rest of the plants were continuously watered every second day. Drought-stress was applied by stopping watering for a period of 19 days. During this drought-stress treatment, several parameters were measured. This included shoot length, leaf area, number of leaves per plant, protein content, pot weight, relative water content and fresh/dry weight ratio from both stressed and non-stressed plants. After 19 days of water deficit, the stressed plants were re-watered to observe plant recovery.

#### 3.3.2 Shoot height

Shoot height was measured on a weekly basis using a measuring tape (mm) and increments in plant height were recorded. Measurements were made from the bottom of the stem (where it emerged from the soil) to the tip of the stem. Measurements for the drought-stressed plants were taken every third day during the 19 days of drought treatment.

#### 3.3.3 Leaf area

The first measurements were taken at the third week of growth. Five plants from each of the three different lines were used for determining the leaf area under well-watered and drought-stress conditions. These measurements were taken every third day during drought-stress conditions for a period of 16 days and after 8 days of rehydration. Six to eighteen leaves per plant (depending on the age of the plant) were cut early in the morning and placed on top of a piece of paper and their shapes were drawn and cut out. Each paper shape was weighed and the results were recorded and compared to a piece of paper of known area (standard).

#### 3.3.4 Leaf number

Seven individual plants of each line grown under well-watered and drought-stressed conditions were used for determining the number of leaves per plant. For well-watered plants, the number of leaves per plant was counted weekly during the first 3 weeks of plant growth. For the drought-stressed plants, the number of leaves per plant was counted every third day.

#### 3.3.5 Anthocyanin concentration

Approximately 5-8 stems per line were used for anthocyanin determination after three weeks of plant growth. The leaves were removed from the stems, the weight of the stems recorded and the stems were homogenised in 0.5 ml of 1N hydrochloric acid (HCl) using a mortar and pestle. Homogenised plant extract (0.5 ml) was transferred to 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tubes. The tubes were centrifuged at 13 000 rpm for 5 min after which 0.5 ml of the clear supernatant was transferred to a clean microcentrifuge tube and mixed with 0.5 ml 1N HCl until the solution became turbid. The absorbance of the solution was measured in a spectrophotometer at 515 nm and the absorbance was used to determine the anthocyanin concentration using the following equation:

```
Anthocyanin = \frac{absorbance X \ 1 \ ml}{grams of fresh weight (FW)}
```

#### 3.3.6 Protein determination

#### 3.3.6.1 Protein standard curve

A standard curve was used as a reference in order to provide a relative measurement of protein concentration. The curve was prepared using 10 mg/ml bovine serum albumin (BSA) from Sigma-Aldrich (United States of America) as a stock solution and distilled

water. A dilution series of 0.1 mg/ml, 0.25 mg/ml, 0.5 mg/ml and 1 mg/ml BSA solution was prepared and the BioRad protein assay was used for protein determination (BioRad Laboratories, California). Ten  $\mu$ l from each dilution was added to 790  $\mu$ l distilled water and 200  $\mu$ l of the BioRad protein assay reagent. The solution was mixed and the absorbance was measured in a 1.5 ml cuvette at 595 nm using a spectrophotometer (Macince, UK).

#### 3.3.6.2 Protein concentration of leaves

The third leaf from 21-day old, well-watered plants of each line was cut from the plants and its weight recorded. During drought-stress one leaf from each plant was removed and cut in half. One half was used to determine its fresh weight/dry weight (FW/DW) ratio while the other half was used for determining the protein concentration. Protein measurements were performed every third day from well-watered and drought-stressed plants during drought conditions. To ensure that the size of the leaves was similar, approximately an equal size of leaf was cut at each time point. During 19 days of drought treatment, the protein was determined at three day intervals. Leaves of the same age from seven plants per line were used.

The leaves were homogenised individually in 1 ml 50mM Tris-HCl buffer, pH 8.0. Ten  $\mu$ l of each sample was added to 790  $\mu$ l dH<sub>2</sub>O and 200  $\mu$ l BioRad protein assay reagent. The samples were mixed well and left at room temperature for 5-10 min and the absorbance was measured in a spectrophotometer at 595 nm.

Protein concentration was determined using the formula: y = mx + c

'x' and 'y': coordinates of a straight line graph

*'m':* the gradient of the straight line graph

'c': is the intercept of the straight line graph

 $Protein \ content \ (g) = \frac{gram \ protein \ X \ 0.5 \ ml}{grams \ of \ fresh \ weight \ (FW)}$ 

#### 3.3.7 Fresh weight and dry weight

During 19 days of well-watered and drought-stress conditions, FW and DW were determined from leaves of the same age from seven plants per line. The fresh leaves were weighed to determine the FW values. This was followed by drying the leaves overnight at 70°C. The dried leaves were weighed again in order to obtain the DW values.

#### **3.3.8** Relative water content (RWC)

The RWC was determined every third day of the drought-stress period using six plants per line. Immediately after harvesting, leaf disks (10 mm in diameter) were weighed to obtain FW. The samples were rehydrated in 3 ml of distilled water for 4 hrs. Thereafter the leaf disks were patted dry on paper towel and weighed again to obtain the turgid weight (TW). The leaf samples were oven-dried overnight at 70°C, and weighed again to obtain DW. FW, TW and DW data for each leaf disc were recorded and used to determine the RWC and the FW/DW ratio. RWC was calculated following a methodology described by Turner (1981) using the formula:

$$RWC = [(FW-DW) / (TW-DW)] X 100$$

#### 3.3.9 Pot weight during drought-stress

The weight of each pot of all 21 plants (seven pots per line) under drought-stress was determined using a weighing balance (Microsep (Pty) Ltd, SA). These measurements were made every third day during the 19 days of drought-stress.

# **GOLDFIELDS LIBRARY**

# 3.4 RAPD analysis

#### 3.4.1 Isolation of DNA

Four individual *A. tricolor* leaves per line were harvested and their weights recorded before isolating their DNA. DNA was isolated from these leaves using a Qiagen DNA Purification Kit for total DNA from plant tissue (Qiagen DNeasy Plant Handbook, 2006). The concentration of the DNA samples was measured at 260/280 ratio using the ND-1000 Nanodrop® spectrophotometer (Nanodrop Technologies, USA).

#### 3.4.2 Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)

Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA (RAPD) analysis was performed in order to detect the differences in DNA of non-mutated wild type and the mutant lines. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) for amplification of DNA was performed using a MyCycler<sup>TM</sup> thermal cycler (BioRad) and RAPD primers. Nineteen arbitrary primers (namely OPA-01, OPA-17, OPB-01 and OPB-02 (Operon Technologies, USA)) (Table 1) were tested for detection of polymorphisms. The PCR reactions were performed in 0.2 ml microcentrifuge tubes which contained 3.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.04 mM dNTPs, 0.24  $\mu$ M primer, 0.75 U TaKaRa *Taq* polymerase and 30 ng genomic DNA in a final volume of 16  $\mu$ l. DNA was amplified using MyCycler<sup>TM</sup> thermal cycler (BioRad) under the following parameters: denaturing step of 1 min 30 sec at 94.5°C followed by 35 cycles consisting of 15 sec at 94.5°C, 20 sec at 37°C, 30 sec at 72°C with a final DNA extension of 2 min at 72°C followed by 2 min at 10°C to terminate the reaction.

#### 3.4.3 Gel Electrophoresis

The DNA samples were separated using a 1.2 percent agarose gel containing 1X TAE (Tris-Acetate-EDTA) buffer. The gel was run for 90min at 80 V and stained in 250 ml of deionised water and 10 $\mu$ l of ethidium bromide for 10-15 min. The result of the gel was visualised using UV light on a transilluminator. The reactions were repeated three times

without alteration in the protocol in order to verify the reproducibility of the amplification pattern.

Primer	Sequence
OPA-01	5'-CAGGCCCTTC-3'
OPA-02	5'-TGCCGAGCTG-3'
OPA-03	5'-AGTCAGCCAC-3'
OPA-04	5'-AATCGGGCTG-3'
OPA-05	5'-AGGGGTCTTG-3'
OPA-06	5'-GGTCCCTGAC-3'
OPA-07	5'-GAAACGGGTG-3'
OPA-08	5'-GTGACGTAGG-3'
OPA-09	5'-GGGTAACGCC-3'
OPA-10	5'-GTGATCGCAG-3'
OPA-11	5'-CAATCGCCGT-3'
OPA-12	5'-TCGGCGATAG-3'
OPA-13	5'-CAGCACCCAC-3'
OPA-14	5'-TCTGTGCTGG-3'
OPA-15	5'-TTCCGAACCC-3'
OPA-16	5'-AGCCAGCGAA-3'
OPA-17	5'-GACCGCTTGT-3'
OPA-18	5'-AGGTGACCGT-3'
OPA-19	5'-CAAACGTCGG-3'
OPB-01	5'-GTTTCGCTCC-3'
OPB-02	5'-TGATCCCTGG-3'

 Table 1: Nucleotide sequences of primers used in RAPD analysis

# 3.5 Statistical analysis

The results of shoot length, leaf area, anthocyanin content, protein content, RWC and FW/DW ratio were analysed using the General Linear Model (GLM) of the Statistical Analysis System (SAS Institute Inc. Cary, NC, United States 1996). Statistical analysis was performed by using the student's t-test with a significance level of 5 percent.

### **CHAPTER 4**

## 4. **Results and Findings**

# 4.1. Morphological and physiological characterisation of mutated A. *tricolor* lines during well-watered conditions

#### 4.1.1. Selection of optimal soil medium

Preliminary experiments were performed under well-watered conditions using five different types of soil in order to determine which soil type results in optimal growth for all the plants. Medium 1 (coconut coir, sand and vermiculite at a 1:1:1 ratio) resulted in the loss of leaves after 25 days and eventually some plants died. Medium 2 (seedling mix with addition of 4.49g/l Murashige & Skoog (MS) as a fertiliser) favoured the growth of the plants, but the soil contained stalks, which seemed to interfere with seed germination and subsequent plant growth. A white surface layer (salt precipitation) developed on medium 3 (potting soil enriched with compost containing essential micro and macronutrients, vermiculite and sand at 2:1:1) after 3 weeks of plant growth and growth of the plants was very slow. Medium 4 (germination mix, Culterra (Pty) Ltd, SA) did not provide enough material for plant extraction after 4 weeks. The plants were very small possibly due to certain nutrients not being provided to enhance plant growth. Therefore, MS salt mixture was added into the soil mixture as a fertiliser (medium 5). Medium 5 (germination mix and MS) allowed good growth of plants, since the third leaf of the plants appeared already during the first week of growth. Furthermore, the texture of the soil did not have any negative effect on the germination of the seeds. The wild type and mutant #5 plants performed the best regarding plant growth when medium 5 was used (Figure 4.1). As a result, medium 5 was subsequently used for the cultivation of plants.



Figure 4.1: Growth comparison of 10 *Amaranthus* plants on different soil types (medium3 (potting soil, vermiculite and sand), medium 4 (germination mix) and medium 5 (germination mix with MS)) after 4 weeks of growth. Data shown are the mean from 10 plants of each line  $\pm$  SE (standard error).

#### 4.1.2. Plants grown

*Amaranthus tricolor* plants used for shoot length measurements were labeled with blue rings (Figure 4.2).

Shoot lengths for all the *Amaranthus* lines were measured weekly over a period of 5 weeks. This experiment was repeated four times due to differences in natural light conditions. Mutant #5 grew slightly faster when compared to mutant #2 and the wild type, but the difference was not significant statistically (P>0.05) (Figure 4.3).



**Figure 4.2**: Two week old plants of *Amaranthus* lines (wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5). Plants labeled with blue rings were the plants used for weekly measurements.



**Figure 4.3:** Average shoot length of 7 plants from the wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5 under well-watered conditions in the greenhouse at 28 °C. Data shown are the mean from 7 plants of each line  $\pm$  SE at each time point.

#### 4.1.3 Anthocyanin content

The anthocyanin content from the stems of the *Amaranthus* wild type as well as the mutant lines was determined after three weeks of plant growth. The difference in stem colour became visible during the second week of plant growth. The stems of mutant #2 (light pink), mutant #5 (light and dark pink) and wild type (green) were significantly different (P<0.05) in colour after three weeks of growth (Figure 4.4 A). But there was no significant difference (P>0.05) found between the two mutant lines compared to the wild type plants (Figure 4.4 B).



B



Figure 4.4: (A) Stem colour of the wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5 plants and (B) the average concentration of the anthocyanin content from these lines after 3 weeks of growth at  $28^{\circ}$ C. Data shown are the mean from 8 stem stalks of each line ± SE.

# 4.2. Morphological and physiological characterisation of *Amaranthus* lines during well-watered and drought-stress conditions

#### **4.2.1.** Effect of drought-stress on shoot length

Under well-watered conditions, the shoot lengths of mutant #5 plants were significantly higher (P<0.05) than of mutant #2 and the wild type plants (Figure 4.5 A). The shoot lengths of the wild type plants were not significantly different from mutant #2 plants (P>0.05). When plants were exposed to 19 days of drought conditions, there was a significant reduction (P<0.05) in shoot length in comparison to well-watered plants. The shoot length of mutant #5 decreased by 27 percent, the wild type by 21 percent and mutant #2 by 18 percent when compared to well-watered plants. However, mutant #5 plants still grew faster than mutant #2 and the wild type plants under drought-stress conditions and a significant difference in growth was observed after 19 days (P<0.05) (Figure 4.5 B).



Figure 4.5: (A) The average shoot length of seven wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5 plants during 19 days of (A) well-watered and (B) of drought-stress conditions in the greenhouse at  $28^{\circ}$ C. Data shown are the mean from seven plants of each line ± SE at each time point.

#### 4.2.2. Leaf area

The leaf area per plant was measured from both well-watered and drought-stressed plants. During well-watered conditions, the leaves of the wild type plants were bigger when compared to both mutant lines and this was observed consistently over a period of 24 days (Figure 4.6 A). After 24 days, however, the leaf areas of the wild type plants were not significantly different (P>0.05) from leaf areas of the mutant lines.

After 16 days of drought-stress, the total leaf area of plants was significantly reduced when compared to well-watered conditions. The leaf areas of the wild type plants were reduced by 77 percent and the leaf areas of both mutant lines by 87 percent (P<0.05; Figure 4.6 B). Thus, at 16 days of drought-stress the wild type plants had larger leaf areas than the leaf areas of both mutant lines, but this difference was not significant (P>0.05). After 16 days of drought treatment, all leaves of wild type plants dried out and did not recover after re-watering. Plants of both mutant lines, however, recovered after re-watering and the leaf areas significantly increased during an 8 day re-watering period (Figure 4.6 B).

#### 4.2.3. Number of leaves

Wild type plants had more leaves under both well-watered and drought-stress conditions when compared to plants of both mutant lines, which had similar numbers of leaves under both conditions (Figure 4.7 A). Although plants of all three lines developed less leaves during drought-stress and exhibited a delay in leaf development, this decrease in leaf number was not significant when compared to well-watered plants (Figure 4.7 B). The number of leaves of wild type decreased by 17 percent, the mutant #5 by 10 percent and mutant #2 by 8 percent when compared to well-watered plants.



Figure 4.6: (A) The average leaf area of wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5 plants during 24 days of well-watered conditions and (B) during 16 days of drought conditions and eight days of recovery period in the greenhouse at  $28^{\circ}$ C. Data shown are the mean from five plants of each line ± SE at each time point.



Figure 4.7: (A) The average number of leaves from wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5 per line during 19 days of (A) well-watering and (B) of drought treatment in the greenhouse at  $28^{\circ}$ C. Data shown are the mean from seven plants of each line ± SE at each time point.

#### 4.2.4. Protein content

Under well-watered conditions, all plants of all the lines exhibited an increase in protein content per dry weight over time (Figure 4.8 A). When exposed to drought-stress conditions, the protein content started to decrease after 13 days (Figure 4.8 B). Mutant #2 plants had a significantly higher (P>0.05) protein content after 19 days under both well-watered and drought-stress conditions when compared to mutant #5 and wild type plants (Figure 4.8 A and B). The protein content was not significantly different between the two mutant lines (P>0.05). Drought-stress significantly reduced (P<0.05) the protein content in all lines: the protein content of mutant #2 was reduced by 45 percent, mutant #5 by 48 percent and the wild type by 63 percent.



Figure 4.8: A) The average protein content from the wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5 plants during 19 days of (A) well-watering and (B) of drought treatment in the greenhouse at 28°C. Data shown are the mean from seven plants of each line  $\pm$  SE at each time point.

#### 4.2.5. Relative water content, FW/DW ratio and pot weight

To monitor the progression of drought-stress the weight of the pots where the plants were planted (soil + plant biomass weight) was measured over 19 days (Figure 4.9). The pot weight progressively decreased as the treatment period progressed, but there was no significant difference in the decrease between the pots containing the three different lines (P<0.05).

Both the RWC and the FW/DW ratio of all three lines were affected by drought-stress (Figures 4.10 and 4.11 B). After 19 days, wild type plants lost slightly more water than plants of both mutant lines, but the difference in RWC was not significant (P>0.05; Figure 4.10). After the drought-stress period, the RWC of the wild type plants was reduced by 69 percent, the mutant #2 plants by 72 percent and the mutant #5 plants by 75 percent when compared to the RWC at the beginning of the drought period. In addition, the FW/DW ratio greatly decreased as the drought period progressed and all lines exhibited a significantly lower FW/DW ratio (P<0.05; Figure 4.11 B). However, there was no significant (P>0.05) difference in the decrease of both RWC and FW/DW ratio. Meanwhile under well-watered, the FW/DW ratio was not significantly (P>0.05) different between all three lines (Figure 4.11 A).



Figure 4.9.: The average weight of the pots (soil and plant biomass weight) containing the wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5 plants during 19 days of drought treatment in the greenhouse at  $28^{\circ}$ C. Data shown are the mean from seven pots for each line ± SE at each time point.



**Figure 4.10:** Relative water content (RWC) of the wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5 plants during 19 days of drought treatment grown at  $28^{\circ}$ C in the greenhouse. Data shown are the mean from six plants of each line ± SE at each time point.



Figure 4.11: The average fresh weight/dry weight (FW/DW) changes of the wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5 plants during 19 days of (A) well-watering and (B) of drought treatment in the greenhouse at 28°C. Data shown are the mean from seven plants of each line  $\pm$  S.E at each time point.

#### 4.2.6. Recovery of plants after re-watering

After 13 days of drought-stress the plants started to show symptoms of water deficit. This included loss of chlorophyll in the lower leaves, while others orientated their leaves away from the sun. Signs of wilting were also obvious in all eight wild type plants, while wilting was only observed in four mutant #5 and two mutant #2 plants (data not shown). After 19 days of drought-stress, all wild type plants were dead, whereas leaves of mutant #2 and mutant #5 plants exhibited yellowing (Figure 4.12 A).

At the end of the drought-stress period, none of the wild type plants recovered when rewatered (Figure 4.12 B). Out of all seven plants used per line, mutant #2 plants had a maximum of four plants surviving and mutant #5 plants had a maximum of three plants surviving and they started growing after re-watering (Figure 4.12 B). Furthermore, after seven days of re-watering, plants of both mutant lines started flowering.



B



**Figure 4.12:** (A) Physical appearance of the wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5 after 19 days of growth under drought-stress conditions and (B) after seven days of re-hydration in the greenhouse at 28°C.

#### 4.3. Detection of DNA polymorphisms using RAPD analysis

In order to detect polymorphisms between the genomic DNA of the wild type and mutant lines, random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) analysis was performed. Nineteen arbitrary primers were used, but only two (OPA-07 and OPA-16) detected differences between the three lines. An analysis of four plants from each line was conducted with selected primers and as a result no variations were observed within these four plants from the same line using OPA-07 and OPA-16 primers. Primer OPA-07 detected a polymorphism (A1; Figure 4.13 A) between mutant #2 and mutant #5 (the fragment observed in mutant #2 was also present in the wild type). Primer OPA-16 detected a polymorphism between the wild type and mutant #2 (A2; Figure 4.13 B). The fragment detected in mutant #2 was also not present in mutant #5. This fragment would be the most useful to use during further studies, since it is present in one of the drought-tolerant lines, but not in the wild type.



**Figure 4.13:** RAPD analysis of genomic DNA of the wild type, mutant #2 and mutant #5 plants after visualisation of the amplified DNA fragments on a 1.2 percent agarose gel. M represents Molecular Weight Marker IV; Wt represents the wild type; M2 represents mutant #2 and M5 represents mutant #5. (A) represents amplification using OPA-07 and (B) represents amplification using OPA-16.

# **CHAPTER 5**

## 5. Discussion

# 5.1. Morphological and physiological studies

The current study focussed on two irradiated and one non-irradiated *A. tricolor* lines. These lines were characterised to determine the effect of drought on the mutated material, as well as to determine which one of the two mutant cultivars is the most drought-tolerant. The mutant lines were produced by irradiating the *A. tricolor* seeds using gamma radiation.  $M_1$  seedlings were planted in the field and in wooden boxes in the greenhouse to screen for drought-tolerance (Slabbert *et al.*, 2004). The M<sub>2</sub>-M<sub>5</sub> generations from these selected lines were tested for early drought-tolerance over a period of three years from 2000-2003. After four generations of agronomic and physiological screening, seven drought-tolerant mutant lines (#2, #5, #6, #19, #550, #554 and #993) were selected. For this study, lines #2 and #5 were selected for more detailed analysis.

The current study indicated that physiological and biochemical characteristics of the *Amaranthus* lines were altered by drought-stress, in particular there was a decrease in plant length, leaf area, number of leaves, protein content and FW compared to well-watered plants. The results also indicated that both mutant lines retained more water under drought conditions compared to the wild type, with mutant #2 performing better than mutant #5.

Generally, plant development is enhanced by the availability of soil water for shoot development and growth. Various internal (gibberellins plant hormones) and external factors (light and temperature) influence plant growth besides its genetic makeup (Sestak *et al.*, 1971). Since shoot growth depends on cell division, enlargement and differentiation, exposure to drought-stress can affect plant growth compared to well-

watered plants (Patel and Golakia, 1988). In our study, the shoot height in all the *Amaranthus* lines was significantly reduced by drought when compared to the wellwatered lines. This decrease in shoot growth might be associated with a decline in cell growth and enlargement (Manivannan *et al.*, 2007).

A decrease in soil water potential causes a decrease in leaf area, wilting, impairment of metabolic functions and limitations of photosynthetic activities (Kramar and Boyer, 1983). Leaf area plasticity is of importance in order to control water utilisation in crops (Manivannan *et al.*, 2007). In this study the leaf area of all *Amaranthus* lines were reduced significantly by drought-stress compared to well-watered plants. However, wild type drought-stressed plants still produced bigger leaves than the mutant lines; as a result, the wild type plants lost more water during drought-stress. This could possibly mean that plants with bigger leaf area lose more water during drought-stress conditions compared to those with smaller leaf areas. According to a study done by Slabbert and van den Heever (2007) on 33 amaranth germplasm collected from different communities in South Africa, they found that drought-tolerant plants were able to maintain bigger leaf areas. While Blum (1997) concluded that a decrease in leaf area due to drought-stress is considered an avoidance mechanism that allows less water loss through transpiration. We could speculate that the mutant lines shut down transpiration through wilting and as a result they recovered easily after re-watering.

The mechanisms that allow the production of crops under unfavourable conditions can either be a result of drought-tolerance in the event of cellular dehydration, or the ability to adjust water loss so that the water status can be maintained for leaf development (Liu and Stützel, 2002). Generally, the number of leaves per plant is reduced significantly by drought conditions. During drought-stress, it has been shown that physiological alteration that occurs due to severe water deficit, leads to the development of smaller and compact cells and bigger specific leaf weight (Chung *et al.*, 1997). In this study, the two mutant lines developed less leaves than the wild type as a mechanism to adjust to drought conditions. The wild type had more leaves under both well-watered and drought-stress conditions compared to the two mutant lines, but failed to survive the drought treatment. The number of leaves per plant was also reduced in groundnut (*Arachis hypogea*) under drought-stress (Reddy, *et al.*, 2003).

In sunflower plants, drought-stress adversely affected the overall biomass production compared to the well-watered plants (Manivannan *et al.*, 2007. Drought-stress conditions also decreased the fresh weight (FW) of the whole plant of all the *Amaranthus* lines. A decrease in the whole plant's FW under water deficit might be due to suppression of cell growth due to low turgor pressure. Similar observations were also found in wheat (Rane *et al.*, 2001) and pearl millet (Kusaka *et al.*, 2005).

Anthocyanin has been shown to improve drought-tolerance in some plants, since anthocyanin is involved in contributing to osmotic adjustment during drought-stress and low temperature (Chalker-Scott, 1999). The pink colour of the stem stalks in both mutant lines was due to a higher anthocyanin content which might contribute to improved drought-tolerance of these lines (Slabbert *et al.*, 2004). In this study, anthocyanin content differed significantly between the mutant and the wild type lines. The stems stalks of the mutant plants contained more anthocyanin plays a role in the reaction of the mutant lines to drought-stress, and thus contributed to the recovery of these mutant lines after water deficiency. These results are similar to a study done by Efeoğlu *et al.* (2009) on the physiological responses of three maize cultivars (Doge, Vero and Luce) to drought-stress and recovery. They found that plants with more anthocyanin under well-watered conditions had lower levels of anthocyanin during drought and recovered better after re-watering.

The main factor resulting in reduced growth in response to drought is leaf RWC (Morgan, 1992). RWC can be used to determine the relative water status in plants during

drought-stress conditions, indicating the ability of the plant to overcome severe drought conditions (Morgan, 1992). In the initial stage of leaf development, RWC of the leaves is higher and decreases as the dry matter accumulates and the leaf matures (Reddy et al., 2003). In our study, the RWC of the leaves of all drought-stressed lines decreased with time as compared to the well-watered plants. Due to the decrease in soil water, there was a shortage in water supply to the plants. As a result, the RWC decreased in all genotypes. The wild type plants showed a greater decrease in RWC as compared to mutant #2 and mutant #5 after 19 days of drought-stress, but the difference was not significant statistically. As a result, no wild type plants recovered after re-watering, but the two mutant lines recovered after re-irrigation. These results are in contrast with a study done by Liu and Stützel (2002) who found that all the genotypes used during their study, including A. tricolor, recovered after seven days of re-watering. Slabbert and van den Heever (2007) measured RWC from 33 amaranth germplasm including A. tricolor. They showed that A. tricolor was one of the species that was able to recover after a drought period of 14 days when re-watered. Also, in a study by Omami and Hammes (2006) on A. tricolor and A. cruestus, the effects of polyethylene glycol (PEG)-mediated drought-stress on the growth of the plants and leaf water relations showed that, at the end of the water deficit period, the RWC of the A. tricolor plants was reduced from 86 percent to 58 percent. The RWC of A. cruentus decreased from 87 percent to 60 percent. They found that after re-watering, both genotypes returned back to the original RWC levels.

The low soil matric potential associated with reduced water content causes a decrease in water potential in plants resulting in reduced rate of plant growth (Omami and Hammes, 2006). In this study, there was a decrease in the mass of the pot weights for all the *Amaranthus* lines exposed to drought treatment, thus indicating a decrease in plant mass.

When the plants were re-watered after 19 days of drought-stress conditions, full recovery in the mutant lines were observed after seven days of re-watering. In a study

done by Slabbert and van den Heever (2007) on 33 amaranth germplasm, 14 day drought-stressed plants were able to recover 15 hours after re-watering. The longer the drought treatment, the longer it took for the plants to recover.

# 5.2. Biochemical studies

The presence of low water in the soil results in less plant growth which leads to protein accumulation in plants (Showler, 2003). The effect of drought-stress on plants can either be positive or negative, depending on the duration of stress, growth stage of the plant and the intensity of drought (Sharma et al., 2004). In this study, protein content was determined using the leaves of the wild type and two mutant lines during both droughtstress and well-watered conditions. Under drought-stress conditions, the protein level from all the lines were affected and mutant #2 had a higher protein content as compared to mutant #5 and the wild type line. A decline in protein content was pronounced after 13 days of drought-stress in all the lines. In our study, under control conditions, all the Amaranthus lines had an increase in protein content over time with mutant #2 exhibiting higher protein content compared to mutant #5 and the wild type. By contrast, during a study by Manivannan et al. (2007) on sunflower (Helianthus annuus L.) varieties, drought-stress caused an increase in amino acid content compared to the well-watered plants. An increase in amino acid content during drought-stress was also observed in sorghum (Yadav et al., 2005). The increase in amino acid content may be the result of protein hydrolysis, as well as osmotic adjustment of the cellular contents (Manivannan et al., 2007). During a study by Salekdeh et al. (2002), two rice cultivars (Oryza sativa L. cv CT9993 and cv IR62266) were analysed to investigate the changes in the leaf protein during drought-stress and after recovery, using proteomic analysis. According to their findings, leaf proteins were reversible in both the shallow-rooted drought-tolerant (Oryza sativa L. cv IR62266) cultivar and the deep-rooted drought-avoidance (Oryza sativa L. cv CT9993) cultivar. They concluded that the increase in protein concentrations may be due to changes in protein synthesis. Decreases may be due to breakdown or due to binding of the proteins to cellular components. In our study other proteins might have started to degrade after 13 days of drought-stress conditions or biosynthesis stopped due to drought-stress conditions.

# 5.3. Genomic studies

Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) can be used to determine the DNA variation among the mutants and non-irradiated wild type lines. Generally, the presence or absence of RAPD bands can either show similarities and/or indicate diversity between different species (van der Vyver, personal communication). During this study, 19 arbitrary primers were used to screen the wild type and the two mutant lines. Two primers (OPA-07 and OPA-16) produced visible and different RAPD profiles. Thus, it was possible to detect differences between the mutated and non-mutated lines using RAPD analysis. These two primers can be used for screening larger populations in order to determine if they can be used as markers for drought-tolerance. During a study done by Ray and Roy (2009), they analysed the genetic diversity and phylogenetic relationships among six *Amaranthus* species (*A. gangeticus* (syn. *tricolor*), *A. paniculatus*, *A. viridis*, *A. hypochondriacus*, *A. caudatus* and *A. cruentus*) from different phytogeographic regions using RAPD markers. They found that polymorphisms were detected between all six species using primer OPA-20 and *A. tricolor* sustained greater genetic variation compared to the other *Amaranthus* species using primer OPA-20.

# **CHAPTER 6**

# 6. Conclusion and Recommendations

# 6.1. Conclusion

The aim of this study was to characterise drought-tolerant *A. tricolor* mutant lines produced by radiation. The objectives were to investigate the performance of these lines, including the wild type, under both well-watered and drought-stress conditions. Furthermore, the genetic diversity was analysed in all the lines using the RAPD technique.

Mutagenic treatment used to produce mutant lines may directly affect cell division and some intrinsic growth characteristics, which result in delaying the rate of plant development (Beggs *et al.*, 1985). This may cause changes in the plant height, total biomass, number of leaves and leaf area. Radiation dwarfed mutant #2, but greatly increased the shoot height of mutant #5 compared to its wild type.

The results presented in this study showed the behaviour of well-watered *A. tricolor* plants in comparison with the drought-stressed plants. The wild type plants had more leaves and larger leaf area. As a result, they lost more water during drought conditions compared to the two mutant lines, which retained more water under drought conditions. The two mutant lines exhibited higher drought-tolerance level than the wild type line in terms of recovery after 19 days of drought-stress conditions. Both mutant lines also showed an increase in protein content per gram dry weight under well-watered and drought-stress conditions. However, water deficit affected protein concentration in all the lines after 13 days of drought-stress. Under drought-stress conditions, mutant #2 performed better when compared to mutant #5 and the wild type by having higher protein content in the leaves and an increased survival of plants after drought treatment.

Therefore, mutant #2 would be a good candidate for further experiments on *Amaranthus* cultivation under extreme drought conditions. Molecular techniques, specifically RAPD, detected polymorphisms between the wild type and the two mutant lines. Possible markers were identified in both mutant lines. From this study it can be concluded that radiation improved drought-tolerance in the mutant lines.

# 6.2. Recommendations

- More genetic studies still need to be done in order to identify how genes changed in their expression due to radiation.
- Primer OPA-20 should be used to detect polymorphism between the two mutant lines and the wild type.
- Genes that are differentially expressed between the wild type and mutant lines, and are responsible for drought-tolerance in the mutant lines still need to be isolated and characterised further by using bioinformatics tools.
- Techniques such as cDNA amplified fragment length polymorphism (cDNA-AFLP) and cDNA representational difference analysis (cDNA RDA) can be incorporated and used to detect genetic variations.
## REFERENCES

1. AGBETOYE, L. & OYENEYE, O. 2007. Development of a harvester for *Amaranthus* vegetable. Akure, Ondo State, Nigeria Department of Agricultural Engineering, Federal University of Technology.

2. AHLOOWALIA, B.S. & MALUSZYNSKI, M. 2001. Induced mutations-A new paradigm in plant breeding, *Euphytica*, 118:167-173.

3. ALEXIEVA, V., SERGIEV, I., MAPELLI, S. & KARANOV, E. 2001. The effect of drought and ultraviolet radiation on growth and stress markers in pea and wheat. *Plant Cell Environment*, 24:1337-1344.

4. ALETOR, V.A & ADEOGUN, O.A. 1995. In Press Nutrients and antinutrient components of some tropical leafy vegetables. International Journal of Food & Chemistry, 54:375-379.

5. AL-HUMAID, A. & MOTAWEI, M.I. 2004. Molecular characterization of some turfgrass cultivars using randomly amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) markers. *Food, Agriculture & Environment*, 2:376-380.

6. AMIN, I., NORAZAIDAH, K.I. & HAINIDA, K.I.E. 2006. Antioxidant activity and phenolic content of raw and blanched *Amaranthus* species. *Food Chemistry*, 94:47-52.

7. ASHRAF, M. & FOOLAD, M.R. 2007. Role of glycine betaine and proline in improving plant abiotic stress resistance. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 59:206-216.

8. BECKER, R., WHEELER, E.L., LORENZ, K., STAFFORD, A.E., GROSJEAN, O.K., BETSCHART, A.A. & SAUDERS, R.M. 1981. A compositional study of amaranth grain. *Journal Food Science*, 46:1175-1180.

9. BEGGS, C.J., SCHNEIDER-ZEIBERT, R., & WELLMAN, E., 1985. UV-B radiation and adaptive mechanisms in plants. *In:* Worrest, R.C. ed. Stratospheric Ozone Reduction, Solar Ultraviolet Radiation and Plant Life. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 235–250.

10. BEYENE, G., KUNERT, K.J. & FOYER, C.H. 2006. Gene expression and plant performance in oryzacystatin-I expressing transformed (*Nicotiana tabacum L.* cv Samsun) plants under abiotic stress. PhD thesis: Forestry and Agricultural Biotechnology Institute, University of Pretoria, South Africa.

11. BLUM, A. 1997. Crop responses to drought and the interpretation of adaptation. *In:* Belhassen, E. ed. Drought-tolerance in higher plants. *Genetical, Physiological and molecular biological analysis*. Dordrecht-Kluwer. 57-70.

12. BOSTID (Board on Science and Technology for International Development). 1984. amaranth: Modern prospects of an ancient crop. National Academic Press, Washington D.C.

13. BRANDT, K., GIANNINI, A. & LERCARI, B. 1995. Photomorphogenic responses to UV radiation 3. A comparative study of UV-B effects on anthocyanin and flavonoid accumulation in wild type and aurea mutant of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill.). *Photochemistry & Photobiology*, 62:1081-1087.

14. BRAY, E.A. 1997. Plant responses to water deficit. *Trends in Plant Science*, 2:48-54.

15. BRESSANI, R., GONZALES, J.M., ZUNIGA, J., BRAUNER, M. & ELIAS, L.G. 1987. Yield, selected chemical composition and nutritive value of 14 selections of amaranth grain representing four species. *Journal of Science and Food Agriculture*, 38:347-356.

16. CABUSLAY, G.S., ITO, O. & ALEJAR, A.A. 2002. Physiological evaluation of responses of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) to water deficit. *Plant Science*, 163:815-827.

17. CAO, G., SOFIC, E. & PRIOR, R.L. 1996. Antioxidant capacity of tea and common vegetables. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 44:3426-3431.

18. CHALKER-SCOTT, L. 1999. Environmental significance of anthocyanin in plant stress responses. *Photochemistry and Photobiology*, 70:1-17.

19. CHAN, K.F. & SUN, M. 1997. Genetic diversity and relationships detected by isozyme and RAPD analysis of crop and species of *Amaranthus*. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 95:865-873.

20. CHEEKE, P.R. & BRONSON, J. 1979. Feeding trials with *Amaranthus* grain, forage and leaf protein concentrations. *In* Proceeding of the 2<sup>nd</sup> Amaranth Conference, Rodale Research Centre, Kutztown, PA. 13-14 Sept. Rodale Press, Emmaus, PA, 5-11.

21. CHUNG, S.Y., VERCELLOTTI, J.R. & SANDERS, T.H. 1997. Increase of glycolytic enzymes in peanuts maturation and curing: evidence of anaerobic metabolism. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry*, 45:4516-4521.

22. CHWEYA, J.A. 1985. Identification and nutritional importance of indigenous green leaf vegetables in Kenya. *Acta Horticulturae*, 153:98-108.

23. COLEY, P.D. & AIDE, T.M. 1989. Red coloration of tropical young leaves: a possible antifungal defence? *Tropical Ecology*, 5:293-300.

24. CORNIC, G. 2000. Drought-stress inhibits photosynthesis by decreasing stomatal aperture – not by affecting ATP synthesis. *Trends Plant Science*, 5:187-188.

25. COSTA FRANĆA, M.G., PHAM-THI, A.T., PIMENTEL, C., PEREYRA ROSSIELLO, R.O., ZUILY-FODIL, Y. & LAFFRAY, D. 2000. Differences in growth and water relations among *Phaseolus vulgaris* cultivars in response to induced drought-stress. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 43:227-237.

26. DALOZ, C. 1979. Amaranth as a leaf vegetable: horticultural observations in a temperature climate. Proceedings of the second *Amaranthus* Conference. Ithaca, New York: Cornell University.

27. DAMERVAL, C. DE VIENNE, D., ZIVY, M. & THIELLEMENT, H. 1986. Technical improvements in two-dimensional electrophoresis increase the level of genetic variation detected in wheat-seedling proteins. *Electrophoresis*, 7: 52-54.

28. DRZEWIECKI, J. 2001. Similarities and differences between *Amaranthus* species and cultivars and estimation of outcrossing rate on the basis of electrophoretic separations of urea-soluble seed proteins. *Euphytica*, 119:279-287.

29. EARLY, D. 1990. *Amaranthus* production in Mexico and Peru. *In*: J. Janick and J.E. Simon (eds.), Advances in new crops. Timber Press, Portland, USA: 140-142.

30. EFEOĞLU, B., EKMEKÇI, Y. & ÇIÇEK, N. 2009. Physiological responses of maize cultivars to drought-stress and recovery. *South African Journal of Botany*, 75:34-42.

31. ESCUDERO, N.L., ZIRULNIK, F., GOMEZ, N.N., MUCCIARELLI, S.I., & GIMÉNEZ, M.S. 2005. Influence of a protein concentration from *Amaranthus cruentus* seeds on lipid metabolism. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 231:50-59.

32. FASUYI, A.O., DAIRO, F.A.S. & ADENIJI, A.O. 2008. Tropical vegetable (*Amaranthus cruentus*) leaf meal as alternative protein supplement in broiler starter diets: bionutritional evaluation, *Journal of Central European Agriculture*, 9: 23-34.

33. FUKAI, S. & COOPER, M. 1995. Development of drought-resistant cultivars using physiomorphological traits in rice, *Field Crops Research*, 40:67-86.

34. GERSON, R.T. 1991. Home of gardening of indigenous vegetables: the role of women. *Acta Horticulturae*, 270:331-336.

35. GÖRG, A., POSTEL, W., DOMSCHEIT, A. & GUNTHER, S. 1988. Twodimensional electrophoresis with immobilized pH gradients of leaf proteins from barley (*Hordeum vulgare*): Method, reproducibility and genetic aspects. *Electrophoresis*, 9:681-692.

36. GÖRG, A., BOGUTH, G., OBERMAIER, C. & WEISS, W. 1998. Two-dimensional electrophoresis of proteins in an immobilized pH 4-12 gradient. *Electrophoresis*, 19:1516-1519.

37. GORINSTEIN, S., PAWELCZIK, E., DELGADO-LICON, E., HARUENKIT, R., WEISZ, M. & TRAKHTENBERG, S. 2002. Characterisation of pseudocereal and

cereal proteins by protein and amino acid analyses. Journal of Science and Food Agriculture, 82:886-891.

38. GORINSTEIN, S., MEDINA VARGAS, O.J., JARAMILLO, N.O., SALAS, I.A., AYALA, A.L.M., ARANCIBIA-AVILA, P., TOLEDO, F., KATRICH, E. & TRAKHTENBERG, S. 2007. The total polyphenols and the antioxidant potentials of some selected cereals and pseudocereals. *European Food Research and Technology*, 225:321-328.

39. GRANIER, C. & TARDIEAU, F. 1998. Spatial and temporal analysis of expansion and cell cycle in sunflower leaves. *Plant Physiology*, 116:991-1001.

40. HAQ, N. 2004. Women re-introducing neglected crops. Leisa Magazine. 28-29.

41. HE, J., HUANG. L-K., CHOW, W.S., WHITECROSS, M.I. & ANDERSON, J.M. 1993. Effects of supplementary ultraviolet-B radiation on rice and pea plants. *Australian Journal of Plant Physiology*, 20:129-142.

42. HECKENBERGER, U., ROGGATZ, U. & SCHURR, U. 1998. Effect of droughtstress on the cytological status in *Ricinus communis*. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 49:181-189.

43. HESCHEL, M.S., DONOHUE, K., HAUSMANN, N. & SCHMITT, J. 2002. Population differentiation selection and natural selection for water-use efficiency in *Impatiens capensis* (Balsaminaceae). *International Journal of Plant Science*, 163:907-912. 44. HUNTER, K.J. & FLETCHER, J.M. 2002. The antioxidant activity and composition of fresh, frozen, jarred and canned vegetables. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technology*, 3:399-406.

45. JALEEL, C.A., MANIVANNAN, P., LAKSHMANAN, G.M.A., GOMATHINAYAGAM, M. & PANNEERSELVAM, R. 2008. Alterations in morphological parameters and photosynthetic pigment responses of *Catharanthus roseus* under soil water deficits. *Colloids and Surfaces B. Biointerfaces*, 61:298-303.

46. JAMES, A.Z. & WILLIAM, R.G., 1998. Leaf water relations and plant development of three freeman maple cultivars subjected to drought. *Journal of American Society for Horticultural Science*, 123:371–375.

47. JANSE VAN RENSBURG, W.S., VAN AVERBEKE, W., SLABBERT, R., FABER, M., VAN JAARVELD, P., VAN HEERDEN, I., WENHOLD, F. & OELOFSE, A. 2007. African leafy vegetables in South Africa. *Water*, 33:317-326. Special Edition. [Online]. Available at: < http://www.wrc.org.za>.

48. JEFFERSON, T. 1999. Grain amaranth: A lost crop of the Americans. University of Nebreska Extension Service, Columbia.

49. JIE, H. HUANG. L. CHOW, W.S. WHITECROSS, M.I. & ANDERSON, J.M. 1993. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 20: 129-142.

50. JOHNSON, B.L. & HENDERSON, T.L. 2002. Water Use Patterns of Grain amaranth in the Northern Great Plains. *Agronomy Journal*, 94:1437-1443.

51. KAMO, M., KAWAKAMI, T., MIYATAKE, N. & TSUGITA, A. 1995. Separation and characterization of *Arabidopsis thathiana* proteins by two-dimensional gel electrophoresis. *Electrophoresis*, 16:423-430.

52. KATERJI, N., VAN HOORN, J.W., HAMDY, A., MASTRORILLI, M., OWEIS, T. & MALHOTRA, R.S. 2001. Response to soil salinity of two chickpea varieties differing in drought-tolerance. *Agricultural Water Management*, 50:83-96.

53. KAUFFMAN, C.S. & WEBER, L.E. 1990. Grain amaranth. *In* J. Janick and J.E. Simon (eds.), *Advances in new crops*. Timber Press, Portland, USA: 127-139.

54. KRAMAR, P.J. & BOYER, J.S. 1983. Water relations of plants and soils. Academic Press, New York, USA

55. KRUPA, Z., BARANOWSKA, M. & ORZOL, D. 1996. Can anthocyanins be considered as heavy metal stress indicator in higher plants? *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*, 18:147-151.

56. KUSAKA, M., LALUSIN, A.G. & FUJIMURA T. 2005. The maintenance of growth and turgor in pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum* (L.) Leeke) cultivars with different root structures and osmo-regulation under drought-stress. *Plant Science*, 168:1-14.

57. LAWLOR, D.W. & CORNIC, G. 2002. Photosynthetic carbon assimilation and associated metabolism in relation to water deficits in higher plants. *Plant Cell and Environment*, 25:275-294.

58. LEE, J-R., HONG, G-Y., DIXIT, A., CHUNG, J-W., MA, K-H., LEE, J-H., KANG, H-K., CHO, Y-H., GWAG, J-G. & PARK, Y-J. 2008. Characterization of microsatellite

loci developed for Amaranthus hypochondriacus and their cross- amplifications in wild species. Conservation Genetics, 9:243-246.

59. LEVITT, J. 1972. Responses of plants to environmental stress. Academic Press, New York, USA: Vol I.

60. LEVITT, J. 1980. Responses of plants to environmental stresses. Vol. II: Water, radiation, salt, and other stresses. New York: Academic Press.

61. LILBURN, M.S., NGIDI, E.M., WARD, N.E. & LLAMES. C. 1991. The influence of severe drought on selected nutritional characteristics of commercial corn hybrids. *Poultry Science*, 70:2329-2334.

62. LISITSYN, N. & WIGLER, N. 1993. Cloning the differences between two complex genomes, *Science*, 259:946-951.

63. LIU, F. & STÜTZEL, H. 2002. Leaf water relations of vegetable amaranth (*Amaranthus spp.*) in response to soil drying. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 16:137-150.

64. LIU, F. & STÜTZEL, H. 2004. Biomass partitioning, specific leaf area and water use efficiency of vegetable amaranth (*Amaranthus spp.*) in response to drought-stress. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 102:15-27.

65. MANDAL, N. & DAS, P.K. 2002. Intra- and interspecific genetic diversity in grain *Amaranthus* using random amplified polymorphic DNA markers. *Plant Tissue Culture*, 12:49-56.

66. MANIVANNAN, P., ABDUL, J.C., SANKAR, B., KISHOREKUMAR, A., SOMASUNDARAM, R., LAKSHMANAN, G.M.A. & PANNEERSELVAM, R. 2007. Growth, biochemical modifications and proline metabolism in *Helianthus annuus* L. as induced by drought-stress. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 59:141-149.

67. MARCELIS, L.F.M., HEUVELINK, E., GOUDRIAAN, J. 1998. Modelling biomass production and yield of horticultural crops: a review. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 74:83-111.

68. MASINDE, PW., STÜTZEL, H., AGONG, S.G. & FRICKE, A. 2006. Plant growth, water relations and transpiration of two species of African nightshade (*Solanum villosum* Mill. Spp. *Miniatum* (Bernh. Ex Willd.) Edmonds and *S. sarrachoides* Sendtn.) under water-limited conditions. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 110: 7-15.

69. McGREGOR, C.E., LAMBERT, C.A., GREYLING, M.M., LOUW, J.H. & WARNICH, L. 2000. A comparative assessment of DNA fingerprinting techniques (RAPD, ISSR, AFLP and SSR) in tetraploid potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) germplasm. *Euphytica*, 113:135-144.

70. MINGOCHI, D.S. & LUCHEN, S.W.S. 1995. Traditional vegetables in Zambia: genetic resources cultivation and uses. Department of Agriculture, National Irrigation Research Station, Mazabuka, Zambia.

71. MIRVISH, S.S. 1983. The etiology of gastric cancer: Intra-gastric nitrosamide formation and other theories. *Journal of National Cancer Institute*. 71:631.

72. MNKENI, A.P., MASIKA, P. & MAPHAHA, M. 2007. Nutritional quality of vegetable and seed from different accessions of *Amaranthus* in South Africa. *Water South Africa*, 33:377-380.

73. MORGAN, J.M. 1992. Adaptation to water deficits in three grain legume species. Mechanisms of turgor maintenance. *Field Crop Research*, 29:91-106.

74. MUNNS, R. 1988. Why measure osmotic adjustment? Australian Journal of Plant Physiology, 15:717-726.

75. MURASHIGE, T. & SKOOG, F.K. 1962. A revised medium for rapid growth and biassays with tobacco tissue cultures. *Plant Physiology*, 15:473-497.

76. MYERS, R.L. 1996. Amaranth: New Crop Opportunity. In Janick, J. ed. Progress in new crops. Alexandria, VA.: ASHS Press, 207-220.

77. NAUTIYAL, P.C., RAVINDRA, V. & JOSHI, Y.C. 2002. Dry matter partitioning and water use efficiency under water deficit during various growth stages in groundnut, *Indian Journal of Plant Physiology*, 7:135-139.

78. NAYYAR, H & WALIA, P. 2004. Genotypic variation in wheat in response to water stress and abscisic acid-induced accumulation of osmolytes in developing grains. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science*, 190:39-45.

79. NGUYEN, H.T., BABU, R.C. & BLUM, A. 1997. Breeding for drought resistance in rice: physiology and molecular consideration. *Crop Science*, 37:1426-1438.

80. NOVAK, F.J. & BRUNNER, H. 1992. Plant breeding: Induced mutation technology for crop improvement. *IAEA Bulletin*, 4: 25-33.

81. O'BRIEN, G.K. & PRICE, M.L. 1998. Amaranth: Grain & Vegetable types. In Proceedings of the Second Amaranth Conference. Emmaus, PA: Rodale Press.

82. OMAMI, E.N. & HAMMES, P.S. 2006. Interactive effects of salinity and water stress on growth, leaf water relations and gas exchange in amaranth (*Amaranth spp.*), *New Zealand Journal of Crop and Horticultural Science*, 34:33-44.

83. PALADA, M.C. & CROSSMAN, S.M.A. 1999. Evaluation of tropical leaf vegetables in the Virgin Islands. *In Janick, J. ed. Perspectives on new crops and new uses*. Alexandria, VA: ASHS Press, 388-393.

84. PATEL, M.S. & GOLAKIA, B.A. 1988. Effect of water stress on yield attributes and yield of ground nut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.). *Indian Journal of Agricultural Science*, 58:701-703.

85. PÉRIN, C., REBOUILLAT, J., BRASILEIRO, A.C.M., DIÉVART, A., GANTET, P., BREITLER, J.C., JOHNSON, A.A.T., COURTOIS, B., AHMANDI, N., DE RAISSAC, M. LUQUET, D., CONTE, M., THIS, D., PATI, P. & LE, Q.H. 2007. Novel insights into the genomics of rice root adaptive development. *In Brar*, D.S., Mackill, D.J., Hardy, B. Singapore, *Rice Genetics Version. Proceedings of the Fifth International Rice Genetics Symposium*, Philippines, 19-23 Nov. 117-141.

86. PÍSAŘÍKOVÁ, B., KRÁČMAR, S. & HERZIG, I. 2005. Amino acid contents and biological value of protein in various amaranth species. *Czechoslovakia Journal of Animal Science*, 50:169-174.

87. RABBANI, M.A., MARUYAMA, K., ABE, H., KHAN, M.A., KATSURA, K., ITO, Y., YOSHIWARA, K., SEKI, M., SHINOZAKI, K. & YAMAGUCHI-SHINOZAKI, K. 2003. Monitoring expression profiles of rice genes under cold, drought and high-salinity stresses and abscisic acid application using cDNA microarray and RNA gel-blot analyses. *Plant Physiology*, 133:1755-1767.

88. RANADE, S.A., KUMAR, A., GOSWAMI, M., FAROOQUI, N. & SANE, P.V. 1997. Genome analysis of amaranths: Determination of inter- and intra-species variations. *Journal of Biosciences*, 22:457-464.

89. RANE, J., MAHESHWARI, M. & NAGARAJAN, S. 2001. Effect of pre-anthesis water stress on growth, photosynthesis and yield of six wheat cultivars differing in drought-tolerance. *Indian Journal of Plant Physiology*, 6:53-60.

90. RAO, N.K. 2004. Plant genetic resources: advancing conservation and use through biotechnology. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 3:136-145.

91. RAY, T. & ROY, S.C. 2009. Genetic diversity of *Amaranthus* species from the Indo-Gangetic planis revealed by RAPD analysis leading to the development of ecotype-specific SCAR markers. *Journal of Heredity*, 100:338-347.

92. REDDY, V.S., GOUD, K.V., SHARMA, R. & REDDY, A.R. 1994. Ultraviolet-Bresponsive anthocyanin production in a rice cultivar is associated with a specific phase of phenylalanine ammonia lyase biosynthesis. *Plant Physiology*, 105:1059-1066.

93. REDDY, A.R., RAAMAKRISHNA, W., SEKHAR, A.C., ITHAL, N., BABU, P.R., BONALDO, M.F., SOARES, M.B. & BENNETZEN, J.L. 2002. Novel genes are enriched in normalized cDNA libraries from drought-stressed seedlings of rice (*Oryza sativa* L. subsp. Indica cv Nagina 22). *Genome*, 45:204-211.

94. REDDY, T.Y., REDDY, V.R. & ANBUMOZHI, V. 2003. Physiological responses of groundnut (*Arachis hypogea* L.) to drought-stress and its amelioration: a critical review. *Plant Growth Regulation*, 41:75-88.

95. REDDY, A.R., CHAITANYA, K.V. & VIVEKANANDAN, M. 2004. Droughtinduced response of photosynthesis and antioxidant metabolism in higher plants. *Journal Plant Physiology*, 161:1189-1202.

96. RODRÍGUEZ, M., CANALES, E., BORROTO, C.J., CARMONA, E., LÓPEZ, J., PUJOL, M. & BORRÁS-HIDALGO, O. 2006. Identification of genes induced upon water-deficit stress in a drought-stressed rice cultivar. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 163:577-584.

97. ROGOZIN, I.B. & PAVLOV, Y.I. 2003. Theoretical analysis of mutation hotspots and their DNA sequence context specificity. *Mutation Research*, 544:65-85.

98. ROY, S., BEGUM, Y., CHAKRABORTY, A. & RAYCHAUDHURI, S. 2006. Radiation-induced phenotypic alterations in relation to isozymes and RAPD markers in *Vigna radiate* (L.) Wilczek, *International Journal of Radiation Biology*, 82:823-832.

99. SALEKDEH, G.H., SIOPONGCO, J., WADE, L.J., GHAREYAZIE, B. & BENNETT, J. 2002. Proteomic analysis of rice leaves during drought-stress and recovery. *Proteomics*, 2:1131-1145.

100. SESTAK, Z., CATSKY, J. & JARRIS, P.G. 1971. Plant photosynthetic production: Manual of methods. Dr. W. Junk N.V. Publications, The Haque.

101. SHARMA, A.D., THAKUR, M., RANA, M. & SINGH, K. 2004. Effect of plant growth and phosphates activities in *Sorghum bicolor* (L) Moench. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 3:308-312.

102. SHARP, R.E. & DAVIES, W.J. 1979. Solute regulation and growth by roots and shoots of water stressed maize plants. *Planta*, 147:43-49.

103. SHINOZAKI, K., YAMAGUCHI-SHINOZAKI, K. & SEKI, M. 2003. Regulatory network of gene expression in drought and cold stress responses. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 6:410-417.

104. SHIRLEY, B.W., HANLEY, S. & GOODMAN, H.M. 1992. Effects of ionizing radiation on a plant genome: analysis of two *Arabidopsis thaliana* testa mutations. *Plant Cell*, *4*:333-347.

105. SHOWLER, A.T. 2003. Effect of water deficit stress, shade, weed competition and kaolin particles film on selected foliar free amino acid accumulation in cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum* L.). *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 28:631-651.

106. SLABBERT, M.M., DE RONDE. K., CAETANO, T., SPREETH, M. & VAN DEN HEEVER, E. 2004. Development and evaluation of mutant germplasm of *Amaranthus. In* Genetic improvement of under-utilized and neglected crops in low income food deficit countries through irradiation and related techniques. *Proceedings of a final research coordination meeting organized by the Joint FAO/IAEA Division of Nuclear techniques in food and agriculture,* held in Pretoria on 19-23 May 2003. Pretoria. 13-23.

107. SLABBERT, R. & VAN DEN HEEVER, E. 2007. Selection of traditional crops for improved drought-tolerance in leafy amaranth: Moving towards sustainable food supply. *Acta Horticulturae*, 752:281-286.

108. SLEUGH, B.B., MOORE, K.J., BRUMMER, E.C., KNAPP, A.D., JAMES, R. & GIBSON, L. 2001. Crop quality and utilization. Forage nutritive value of various amaranth species at different harvest dates. *Crop Science*, 44: 466-472.

109. SOBRADO, M.A. 1986. Tissue water relations and leaf growth of tropical corn cultivars under water deficits. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, 9:451-457.

110. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS SYSTEM INSTITUTE INC. 1996. SAS/STAT User's Guide. Version 6.11. Volume 1. Inc. Cary: NC.

111. TAIZ, L. & ZEIGER, E. 1998. Plant Physiology. Sinauer Associates, Inc. Publishers. Sunderrland, Massachusetts.

112. TARDIEU, F., GRANIER, C. & MULLER, B. 1999. Modelling leaf expansion in a fluctuating environment: are changes in specific leaf area a consequence of changes in expansion rate? *New Phytologist*, 143:434-439.

113. TUSCON, A.Z. 2006. Spring Equinox. The Seedhead News. 92.

114. TURNER, N.C. 1981. Techniques and experimental approaches for the measurement of plant water status. *Plant and Soil*, 58:339-366.

115. TURNER, N.C. 1997. Further progress in crop water relations. *Advances in Agronomy*, 58:293-338.

116. TURNER, N.C., WRIGHT, G.C. & SIDDIQUE, K.H.M. 2001. Adaptation of grain legumes (pulses) to water-limited environments, *Advances in Agronomy*, 71:193-231.

117. TUTEJA, N., SINGH, M.B., MISRA, M.K., BHALLA, P.L. & TUTEJA, R. 2001. Molecular mechanisms of DNA damage and repair: Progress in plants, *Critical Reviews in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 36:337-397. 118. UGAS, R., LENA, M. & FUJIMOTO, A. 2008. Underexploited Andean and commercial East Asian vegetable amaranth cultivars (*Amaranthus spp*) contribute to a better human nutrition. *In* 16<sup>th</sup> IFOAM Organic World Congress in Modena on 16-20 June 2008. Modena, 1-7.

119. VALLIYODAN, B. & NGUYEN, H.T. 2006. Understanding regulatory networks and engineering for enhanced drought-tolerance in plants. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 9:1-7.

120. VAN DEN HEEVER, E. & VENTER, S.L. 2007. In Chadha, M.L., Kuo, G. & Gowda, C.L.L., ed. Proceedings of the 1<sup>st</sup> international conference on indigenous vegetables and legumes. Prospectus for fighting poverty, hunger and malnutrition. India: ISHS Acta Horticulturae. 339-344.

121. VINOCUR, B. & ALTMAN, A. 2005. Recent advances in engineering plant tolerance to abiotic stress: achievements and limitations. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, 16:23-132.

122. VOS, P., HOGERS, R., BLEEKER, M., REIJANS, M., VAN DER LEE, T., HORNES, M., FRIJTERS, A., POT, J., PELEMAN, J., KUIPER, M. & ZABEAU, M. 1995. AFLP: a new technique for DNA fingerprinting. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 23:4407-4414.

123. WANI, A.A. 2009. Mutagenic effectiveness and efficiency of gamma rays, ethyl methane sulphonate and their combination treatments in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *Asian Journal of Plant Sciences*, 8:318-321.

124. WEBER, E. 1987. Amaranth grain production guide. Emmaus: Rodale Research Center, Inc.

125. WILSON, R.L. 1990. Insect and disease pests of amaranth. In Proceedings of fourth National Amaranth Symposium. Perspectives on Production, Processing and Marketing. St Paul, MN: University Minnesota Press, 163-169.
126.

127. XU, F. & SUN, M. 2001. Comparative analysis of phylogenetic relationship of grain amaranths and their wild relatives (*Amaranthus*; Amaranthaceae) using internal transcribed spacer, amplified fragment length polymorphism, and double-primer fluorescent intersimple sequence repeat markers. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 21:372-387.

128. YADAV, S.K., JYOTHI, L.N., MAHESWARI, M., VANAJA, M. & VENKATESWARLU, B. 2005. Influence of water deficit at vegetative, anthesis and grain filling stages on water relation and grain yield in sorghum. *Indian Journal of Plant Physiology*, 10:20-24.

129. ZANG, X. & KOMATSU, S. 2007. A proteomic approach for identifying osmotic stress-related proteins in rice. *Phytochemistry*, 68:426-437.

130. ZAR, J.H. 1996. Biostatistical analysis. 3rd ed. New Jersey: Prentice Hall.

131. ZHANG, X-Q., SALOMON, BJÖRN. & VON BOTHMER, R. 2002. Application of random amplified polymorphic DNA markers to evaluate intraspecific genetic variation in the *Elymus alaskanus* complex (Poaceae). *Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution*, 49:397-407.

132. ZHELEZNOV, A.V. SOLONENKO, L.P. & ZHELEZNOVA, N.B. 1997. Seed protein of the wild and the cultivated *Amaranthus* species. *Euphytica*, 97: 177-182.

## 133. [Online].Available at:<<u>http://www.kokopelli-seed-foudation.com/amaranths.html</u>>



